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COPYRIGHT LAW REVISION—CATV

TUESDAY, AUGUST %, 1866

U.S. SENATE,
SuBCOMMITTEE ON PATENTS,
TRADEMARKS, AND COPYRIGHTS

oF THE COMMITTEE ON THE J UDICIARY,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10 a.m., in room 1318,
New Senate Office Building, Senator Quentin N. Burdick presiding.
- Present: Senators Burdick (presiding), McClellan, Hart, and

ong.

Aﬁso present: Thomas C. Brennan, chief counsel ; Edd N. Williams,
Jr., assistant counsel; and Stephen G. Haaser, chief clerk, Subcom-
mittee on Patents, Trademarks, and Copyrights.

Senator Burpick. The subcommittee this morning is resuming the
public hearing on S. 1006, to provide for a general revision of the
copyright laws. This series of hearings will consider the copyright
implications of community antenna television systems.

he distinguished chairman of the subcommittee has appointed me
as the acting chairman for the purpose of conducting these hearings.
I shall divect that a copy of a letter from Chairman I\%CClellan appear
in the record immediately following these remarks.

The subcommittee commenced hearings on this bill during the first
session. It was the hope of the subcommittee that the current Con-
sress could complete action on the entire revision bill. Despite the

iligent efforts of the Copyright Office, the House Judiciary Sub-
committee, and the interested parties, it has now become apparent that
this will not be possible.

Important decisions relating to various aspects of CATV are cur-
rently being made in the Congress, the Federal Communications
Commission, and the Federal courts. These developments cannot
be deferred until a future Congress enacts a general copyright revi-
sion bill, yet whatever decision the Congress ultimately makes con-
cerning the copyright question will have a significanut impact upon
CATYV operations. Under these circumstances, the chairman of the
subcommittee has recommended that the subcommittee explore the
advisability of action in this session of Congress to resolve the CATV
copyright question. If, however, the subcommittee should determine
not to act separately on the CATYV issue, then these proceedings will
be of assistance to the subcommittee when, in the next Congress, it
acts upon the entire copyright revision program.

At the outset of these hearings, I wish to indicate that I have no
predetermined view concerning this issue. I am confident that the
subcommittee will seek a proper balance between the constitutional
obLective of the copyright system to encourage creativity, and the
public interest in providing for the widest possible dissemination of

information.
1
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2 ' COPYRIGHT LAW REVISION—CATV

The attainment of such a balance is always a most difficult under-
taking. But looking at the impressive list of witnesses whom we will
hear in the next 3 days, I am hopeful that the subcommittee will be

able to make a constructive contribution.. - b :
(The copy of a letter from Chairman McClellan follows:)

U.8. SENATE,
i © COMMITTEE ON THE JUDICIARY,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON PATENTS, TRADEMARKS, AND CoOrYRIGHTS,
. S July 18, 1966.
Senator QUENTIN N. BURDIOK,
110 Senate Office Building,
Washington, D.O. ' . - _

DEAR SENATOR : In accordance with our conversation, I am designating you as
acting Chairman of the Subcommittee on Patents, Trademarks, and Copyrights,
for the purpose of conducting the hearings, commencing August 2nd, on the com-
munity antenna television aspects of 8. 1000. ; -

I appreciate your willingness to preside at the hearings on this important

subject.
‘With kind regards, I am,
Sincerely, 4 .
JouN Y. MOOLELLAN,
- Ohadrman,

. Mr. Brennan. Mr, Chairman, T suggest that we incorporate at this
oint in the record the notice of this hearing which appeared in the
ongressional Record of July18. = - L S
_Senator Burbior, Without objection it willbe received.
Mr. BRENNAN. Mr. Chairman, there will be references in 'the course

of the hearings to the recommenidationg of the Hoige subcommittee.

I suggest at this point wa incorporate the text of the proposal approved

by the House subcommittee. P T

Senator Burnior. Without objection it will be received. ;
(The notice of hearing and text ¢ proposal referred to follow :)
‘ ’ - [Congressfoual Record, July 18, 1066]
' Norroe or Pusrio HEARING ON CATV |

Mr. MOOLELLAN. Mr. President, as chairman of the gtanding Subcommittee on
Patents, Trademarks, and Copyrights of the Committee on the Judiclary, I wish
to announce that the subcommittee has scheduled & public hearing on'8! 1000, the
copyright revision bill, as it relates to community antenna television systems,

These hearings will be held on Tucsday, August 2; Wednesday, August 8 ; and
;I}‘h;xllésidw. August 4, commencing at 10 a.m. in room 1818;;New Sepate Office

uilding. o

Anyone who wishes to testity or file a statement for the record should com-
municate immediately with the office of the subcommittee, room 849-A;- Senate
Office Building, Washington, D,0,, telephone 226-2268;. © - . .. . ... =~ . : .
. The subcommittee consists of the Senator from Michigan [Mr. HAsx], the Sen-
ator from' North Dakota [Mr. JURDIOK],  the Senqt:g from Pennsylvania [Mr.
ScorT]; the Senator from Hawail [Mr, Foxa], and nyself, = = ¢ AR
) R Y SR R I O N O TR T B W PR
H &Dxﬁ%{csf House Judiciary Subcommittee No. 8 amendment’ to

[P . o o ’ . . ' . : '”‘5;1.5: - *3;;, g

8 . Limitations on ekéluilve.rig‘hts::'Sojwndari\fransmissi;)na; ST
o ?{.; gm:ulx: mxvmg Tna.uﬁixssmm -m‘n:u‘ nn.a;), ; w ’(:, ) th
otwithstan provisions of suhsection (b) aud (c), the secondary
transmission to the p ,,liqiqota pri ur;{?t tm@smigs;on';émbodyin'g'a'pe:tomance
or display of a wotk 18 Hiot an Infringement of dopyright ##: - - T
(A) the secondary transgmission consists entirely vf relaying the primary
~transmission to the private.rooms of a hotel .or other public establishment,
and no direct charge is made to the occupants of the private rooms to gee or
hear the secondary transmission; or ’ ‘
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. (B) the secondary transmission is made solely for the purpose and under

- the conditions specified by clause (2) of gection 109; or

(C) the secondary transmission is made by a common carrier who has
no direct or indirect. control over the content or selection of the primary
transmisgion or over the particular recipients of the secondary transmission,
and whose activities with respect to the secondary trahsmigsion consist solely
of providing wires, cables, or other communications channels for the use of
others, :

(2) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (c¢), but subject to the
provisions of subsection (b), the secondary transmission to the public of a pri-
mary- transmigsion embodying a performance or display of a work is not an
infringement of copyright if the secondary transmission {8 made by a govern-
mental body, or other nonprofit organization, without any purpose of direct or
indirect comtnereial advantage, and without any charge to the recipients of the
secondary transmission other tha pesmenta _necessary to defray the actual
and reagonable costs of maiptaifiing a g secondary transmission

‘ ratin

migsion {8 made f
passed by the pi

secondary 1
transmissiox
secondary transmission; or
(4) the secopdary transm
the limits of thy :
(A) the secondary trans -af. least one month before tife date of the
gecondary tradsmission, has not recorded in the Copyright Office, in accord-
ance with requirements that the Register of Copyrights shall prescribe by.

. regulation, the idembity and address of the person who-6wns the secondary

gether with the name and toes : mAty trans ; or L
(B) the secondary transmission Is made for receptio y or partl
within the limits of an area normally encompassed by o more trans-
mitting facilities, other than the primary transmitter, if:
- = : (1) within that area no such facility is authorized to transmit the
. same performance or display of the work, and .
(1) the copyright owner has given written notice to the secondary
_ transmitter, in decordance with reqiirements that the Reglster of Copy-
" tights shall prescribe by regulation, at least ten days before the primary
v transmission, that the copyright owner's authorization is necessary for
. _ the gecondary transmission. = = oo :
“(e)’ LAMITATIONS ON LIABILITY ¥OR CERTAIN SECONDARY TRANGMISSIONS.~
(1) Subject to the provisions of subsection (b), in the following cases involv-
ing 4 'secondary transmission to the public of a primary transmigsion embodying
a performance or display of a work, Hability of the secondary transmitter for
infringement under ‘section 501 does not include the remedies provided by sec-
tions 502, 503, and 508, and its liability for the remediés provided by sections
504 and. 505 is limited as provided by clause-(2)' of this subsection: = = -
© + (A) ‘Where the secondary transmission comes within the scope of para-
+ - -graph (1) of subclansé :(B) of subsection (b) (4), but the copyright owner
- hag 'not'glven notice as provided by paragraph (ii) of that subclause; ot
T Y L Y & FSN P ERTIL RS T P A ;




4 COPYRIGHT LAW REVISION—CATV

(B) Where the secondary transmission is made for reception wholly or
partly ocutside the limits of the area normally encompassed by the primary
t(xi)a)n(s;r)‘isslo&l, not including an area covered by subclause (B) of subsection

, an

(i) the secondary transmission is made for reception wholly or
partly within the limits of an area normally encompassed by a trans-
misting facility, other than the primary transmitter, if such facility
is authorized to transmit the same performance or display of the work
on the date the secondary transmission is made, whether or not such
authorized transmission is made on that date; or

(i1) the secondary transmission is made for reception wholly or
partly within the limits of an area not normally encompassed by any
transmitting facility.

(2) In any case coming within the scope of subclauses (A) or (B) of clause
(1) of this subsection, the infringer’s liability under section 504 does not include
any of the infringer’s profits or statutory damages, and the copyright owner's
right to recover actual damages is, except as provided in subclauses (A) and
(B) of this clause, limited to recovery of a reasonable license fee, as found by
the court under the circumstances of the case,

(A) Where the court finds that the infringer has refused or failed to
accept an offer of a license, in writing and signed by the copyright owner,
in which the license fee stated was reasonable under the circumstances of
the case, it may in its discretion increase the recovery under section 504 to
a sum of not more than three times the amount of a reasonable license fee,
to which may be added a discretionary award of costs and attorney’s fees
under section 505 ;

(B) Where the court finds that the copyright owner has refused or failed
to accept the written offer, accompanied by a tender, of a license fee that
was reasonable under the circumstances of the case, it may in its discretion
award costs and attorney’s fees under section 504 to the infringer, and may
reduce or withhold an award of a reasonable license fee under section 504,

(@) DEeFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the following terms and their
variant forms mean the following:

(1) A “primary transmission” is one made by the transmitting facility whose
signals are being received and further transmitted by the secondary transmis-
sion service, regardless of where or when the performance or display was first
transmitted.

(2) A “secondary transmission” is the further transmitting of a primary
transmission simultaneously with the primary transmission,

(8) The “area normally encompassed’ by a transmission comprises the entire
xeographic area within the radius that the transmitter's signal is expected to
reach effectively under normal conditions, including any parts of the area within
that radius that its signal fails to reach effectively because of terrain, structures,
or other physical or technical barriers. Where such geographic area has been
designated by Federal statute or regulation for other purposes, the Register of
Copyrights may, by regulation, make such designation applicable for purposes of
this section.

Hovuse CoPYRIGHT SUBCOMMITTEE RELEASES PROPOSED RECOMMENDATIONS ON
CATV

The Copyright Subcommittee of the House Committee on the Judiciary today
made public the following letter semt by Acting Subcommittee Chairman Robert
W. Kastenmeier (D-Wis.) to Chairman Harley O. Staggers (D-W.Va.) of the
House Committee on Interstate and Foreign Commmerce, dealing with the Sub-
committee’s proposed solution of the Community Antenna Television issue under

the pending Copyright Law revision :
May 5, 1966.

Hon. HARLEY O. STAGGERS,
Chairman, House Committec on Interstate and Foreign Commerce,
U.8. House of Representatives, Washington, D.O.

DEAR MR. CHAIRMAN : AS you know, Subcommittee No. 3 of the House Commit-
tee on the Judiciary is engaged in a series of executive sessions on H.R, 4347, a
bill for the general revision of the Copyright Law, title 17 of the United States
Code. One of the most important and controversial of the issues posed by the
revision is the copyright status of transmissions by community antenna systems.
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Under H.R. 4347, as introduced, commercial CATV systems would be fully
liable for copyright infringement whenever they retransmit without permission
a broadcast containing copyrighted material. After extensive consideration of
the arguments made during the hearings and the legal and public policy issues
involved, the Subcommittee has reached agreement on certain amendments which
would substantially change the bill to be recommended to the full Committee.

The Subcomnmittee is, of course, aware that your Committee on Interstate and
Foreign Commerce has been engaged in hearings and study of the problems of
communications law presented by CATV activities. It has been our purpose, as
far as possible, to resolve the copyright issues raised by CATV without trenching
upon the area of communications problems. Because of the importance of this
question and its relationship to the active consideration now being given by your
Committee to measures that would define the status of CATYV systems under the
Communications Act, we have decided to announce our conclusions on this particu-
lar question at this time. The following is a broad simplified summary of what
will necessarily be a complex statutory provision.

For the purpose of this summary, “CATV” refers to commercial services that
intercept ofi-the-air transmissions of programs originated by others and re-
transmit them to paying subscribers by wire connections or the like, without
altering their content, originating programs themselves, or making special charges
for particular programs.

The Subcommittee’s proposal would divide CATV activities, upon the basis
of geographic and other characteristics, into three broad categories or “areas”
which we call “white,” “black,” and “gray.” In very general terms, the Sub-
committee proposes to exempt CATV operations from copyright if they are en-
tirely in the white area; make them fully liable if they are in black area;
and subject them to limited liability in the nature of a ‘‘reasonable license fee”
if they are in the gray area.

Under the Subcommittee’s proposal, the white area embraces CATV retrans-
mission solely within the radius of the area served by the primary broadcaster
(in effect, its “Grade B contour”) to fill in gaps or improve bad reception caused
by technical interference. Hxample: A system operating solely within New York
City and retransmitting New York City stations only.

The black area embraces retransmission beyond the area served by the primary
broadcaster into an area already served by one or more other broadcasters, none
of whom 1s lcensed to carry the same program. Example: A sysitem bringing a
New York City station’s broadcast of a motion picture to Philadelphia subscribers
when no Philadelphia station is licensed to broadcast it.

The gray area embraces retransmissions beyond the area served by the primary
broadcaster into an area already served by another broadcaster who has a license
to carry the same program; or into an area not served by any primary broad-
caster.

The Subcommittee believes that in the so-called white area where the CATYV
operation is merely a “fill-in” or “master antenna” service, operating solely
within the area served by the primary broadcaster, the impact of the CATV
operation is primarily to expand the audience by which the value of the copy-
right owner’s license to the primary broadcaster is measured.

Where, on the other hand, the CATV operation occurs in a black area, le,
where it extends into an area within which there are broadcasting facilities but
the copyright owner has not granted his authorization for any transmission,
the unauthorized retransmission by CATV could destroy a market and result in
direct, immediate damage. Here the Subcommittee would impose full lability
for infringement of copyright, including injunctive relief.

Intermediately, in the gray area situation, where the copyright owner has
already licensed the use of his work in the area, or there is no broadcaster to
license, there is no direct loss of market exclusivity. There is, however, an un-
compensated “free ride” at the owner's expense. Advertisers will not pay for
viewery living outside their area, and CATV service in these areas may keep
out local broadcasters who would pay. Here, the Subcommittee believes that a
reasonable license fec best meets the equities.

Beyond this allocation of different rights and remedies for the white, black
and gray areas, the Subcommittee’s proposal takes into account the arguments
of the CATV operators as to the difficulties of obtaining advance clearances
and the dangers of unlimited liability for statutory damages in this fleld. It
proposes, with respect to CATV operations in the black area, to impose full lia-
bility only if the operator proceeds with the unauthorized retransmission after



N

6 COPYRIGHT LAW REVISION-—CATV

having received advance uotice from the copyright owner. If the owner does
not provide advance notice, the retramsmission would be treated as if it were
in the gray area.

As for CATYV operations in the gray area, the Subcommittee proposes to with-
hold the possibility of an injunction or stautory damages, and limit the opera-
tor’'s liability to a ‘“reasonable license fee” to be fixed by the court in the
absence of agreement. However, in order to induce negotiations, the proposed
amendment would provide the court with discretion to triple the recovery if it
finds that the infringer failed to accept a reasonable offer, or to withhold any
n&covery if it finds that the copyright owner had refused to accept a reasonable
offer.

It should be emphasized that the Subcommittee's proposal is directed solely
to a prospective solution to the community antenna problem under the general
revision by the copright law. It is in not intended as the expression of any
opinion as to what the present law is under the 1809 statute or as to how the
courts should ultimately decide that question.

‘With best regards,

Sincerely yours,
ROBERT W, KASTENMEIER,
Aoting Chairman for Copyright Revision Subcommittee No. 3.

Mr. Brennan. The first witness is Mr. Abraham Kaminstein, Reg-
ister of Copyrights.

Senator Burbpick. Mr. Kaminstein. Will you introduce your assist-
ant for the record, please?

STATEMENT OF ABRAHAM KAMINSTEIN, REGISTER OF COPY-
RIGHTS; ACCOMPANIED BY BARBARA A. RINGER, ASSISTANT
REGISTER OF COPYRIGHTS; AND ABE A, GOLDMAN, GENERAL
COUNSEL, COPYRIGHT OFFICE

Mr. KaminsTeIN. On my left is Miss Barbara Ringer, who is the
Assistant Register of Copyrights and on my right our General Counsel,
Abe Goldman.

Mpr. Chairman, my name is Abraham L. Kaminstein and I am the
Register of Copyrights. It is a privilege for me to appear again be-
fore your committee as a witness in this series of hearings devoted
to one of the most difficult problems in copyright law revision: How
communitg antenna ‘television and similar retransmission services
should be dealt with in the copyright law.

As T mentioned when I testified before you nearly a year ago, S. 1006
is the product of more than a decade of study, discussion, and draft-
ing. ut of the many problems dealt with in the bill, one in particular
did not emerge as an important issue until the last 2 or 3 years, and
has become urgent only recently. That is the question of whether, in
the revised copyright law, commercial community antenna television
systems should be fully subject to copyright control or should be ac-
corded special treatment. The Copyright Office, after carefully
weighing the arguments put forward on both sides, concluded that
what CATYV is doing is a public performance that should be subject
to copyright control, and we therefore drafted S. 1006 in terms of
full CATYV liability. In doing so, however, we were careful to point
out that we were not expressing any opinion as to what the present
law on the subject is, and that the problems facing CATV operators
in obtaining clearances are real ones that cannot be brushed aside.

Under the 1965 revision bill, a commercial community system that
picks up television or radio broadcasts of copyrighted material, and
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retransmits them to paying subscribers over wires or similar con-
nections, would be fully liable for copyright infringement unless it
obtained a license from the copyright owner. These provisions of
the bill were the subject of extensive testimony at the 1965 hearings
before House Judiciary Subcommittee No. 8, under the chairmanship
of Representative rt W. Kastenmeier. Although most of the
witnesses took flat positions favoring or opposing the bill on this point,
it becomes increasingly apparent from their testimony that the prob-
lem is multifaceted and extremely complex. The legislative alterna-
tives were obviously not limited to full liability or outright exemption,
and the problem was complicated by the fact that, although in litiga-
tion for several years, the present law on the subject had never been
construed by the courts.

Beginning in February of this year, the House subcommittee has been
holding twice-weekly executive sessions aimed at revising and report-
ing the bill. So far there have been 40 of these sessions, and it would
be difficult to imagine a more searching, comprehensive, and productive
appraisal of any Eieoe of legislation. Consideration of the CATV
problem alone took well over a month, during which every aspect of
this immensely complex problem was explored and a proposed solu-
tion was drafted, reviewed, and agreed upon. Because the closely
related problem of regulation of community antenna systems by the
Federal Communications Commission was being considered at the
same time by the House Committee on Interstate and Foreign Com-
merce, the subcommittee communicated its conclusions by means of a
letter from Mr. Kastenmeier to Chairman Staggers of the Commerce
Committee. That letter was sent on May 5, 1966.

Since then, as irlou know, Judge Herlands has handed down his de-
cision in one of the CATV cases, United Artists Television, Incorpo-
rated v. Fortnightly Corporation (149 US.P.Q. 758 (S.D.N.Y.
1966) ), holding that the activities of a commercial CATV system
constitute a “public performance for profit” and are therefore fully
actionable as coFyright infringements under the present copyright
law. This development, coupled with the closely related problems
of communications law and regulations confronting the FCC and the
Congress in this area, have thrown a spotlight on Subcommittee No. 3’s
proposal, and have prompted a number of comments on it. I am sure
that a good deal of testimony during this series of hearings will be
directed toward the provisions of that proposed draft.

Senator Burbick. Pardon me, Mr. Kaminstein. What was Sub-
committee No. 8’s prOf)osal ¢

Mr. KaminstEIN. 1 should like to submit it for the record.

Senator Burprck. Does that appear later in your statement ?

Mr. KamMiINsTEIN. Yes.

Senator Burpick. Fine.

Mr. KamInsTeEIN. There is both the proposal of statutory language
and a letter for release by the committee.

I cannot, of course, speak for the members of the House Judiciary
Subcommittee in arguing the substantive merits of their draft or in
commenting on alternative proposals. However, since the Copyright
Office assisted the subcommittee in developing the language of the

L The letter and proposal referred to appear on pp. 2-6.
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proposal, I believe I can explain in general what it means and is in-
tended to do. I should say also that I believe the draft has stood up
well in the light of detailed comments from both sides, and that its
general approach and content deserve serious consideration by your
committee,

The basic theory of the subcommittee’s proposal is that the extent
of a CATYV system’s liability for copyright infringement should be
related to the extent of its impact on the copyright owner’s market. As
explained in Mr. Kastenmeier’s letter, the proposed compromise would
divide CATYV into three general areas, wﬁich for convenience can be
called “white,” “black,” and “gray.” In very broad terms, a com-
munity antenna system would be exempt from copyright liability with
respect to its operations that are exclusively in the “white” area, and
would be fully liable for its operations in the “black’ area. “Gray”
aren operations would be subject to a sort of compulsory license.

The “white” area, as envisioned in the proposal, is the normal service
area of the broadcaster whose signals the CATV operator is picking up.
If the community antenna system is merely operating as a master
antenna or fill-in service—picking up nothing but New York City
signals and transiitting them to New York City subscribers only, for
exmn]p]e——then the copyright owner would not appear to be damaged
and the CAT'V should be exempt.

Conversely, in the “black” area situation, the CATYV system is trans-
mitting signals outside the broadcaster’s normal service area and into
an aren where none of the existing broadcasters is licensed to carry the
copyrighted program. For example, a CATYV operator brought a New
York broadcast of a motion picture into Washington when none of the
Washington stations as yet had a license to broadcast it, this would be
an example of a “black” area. In this situation the copyright owner’s
Washington market would presumably be destroyed or seriously
damaged, and he should therefore be entitled to the full remedies of
the statute.

The intermediate or “gray” area, as the subcommittee viewed it, is
one where there would be no direct destruction of an existing market
but where there is an uncompensated “free ride” and the possibility
of indirect damage. Under the proposal there would be two types
of “gray” aren: first, where the broadcaster’s signals are imported
into an area where there is no other existing service at all ; and second,
where the area is already served by a broadcaster who has a license
to carry the same program. An example of the first type would be
a CATYV system serving a town in the Far West that is not within
the service area of any television station. An example of the second
type would be a CA'TV that carries a local network outlet on one of
its channels and an outlet of the same network in another city on
another one of its channels; typically, its subscribers could receive
“Bonanza” at the same time on either one of the two channels. In
these two “gray” area situations the subcommittee felt that, in the
absence of agreement, the operator’s liability should be limited to a
reasonable license fee as fixed by the court. Where in this type of
case the court found that there had been a failure to bargain in good
faith, the license fee could be reduced or, alternatively, could be in-
creased up to three times.
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_ In addition, the subcommittee glroposed to make CATYV operations
in the “white” or “gray” areas fully actionable if the system alters
the content of the programs it picked up, or made special charges for
particular programs, or originates its own programing other than
weather and news. On the other hand, in response to the arguments
of the CATV operators as to the difficulty of obtaining advance
clearances, the proposal would require advance notice from the copy-
right owner betore a “black” area transmission would be fully action-
able; if advance notice were not given, the transmission would be
subject to a reasonable license fee. .

. On May 23, 1966, after the subcommittee’s proposal was made pub-
lic, the district court in the United Artists case decided in effect that
all CATV operations are in the so-called “black” area today, that is
under the present title 17. It is important to note, however, that
this decision, which is presently being appealed, is based on a statu-
tory construction of the present law, and does not purport to decide
what the law should be for the future. Toward the end of his opin-
ion Judge Herlands stated :

The court notes in passing that, despite the fact that exemptions from in-
clusion within the copyright proprietor’s performance monopoly may arguably
be desirable in certain instances purely on policy grounds, such desiderata are
for Congress and not the courts. (Citing, among other things, Mr. Kasten-
meler’s letter.)

Once the court has determined, as it has herein, that a defendant’s activities
constitute a public performance for profit within the meaning of the Copyright
Act, it has no discretionary power to except that defendant from the coverage
of the Act. Only Congress can do that.

Similarly, Report No. 1635 of the Commerce Committee, issued
June 17, 1966, on H.R. 13286, the bill to smend the Communications
Act of 1934 with respect to community antenna systems, recognized
the close relationship between the copyright and the communications
aspects of this problem. It now appears, and I suspect that the testi-
mony of the next 3 days will bear this out, that the three CATV
threads of copyright legislation, communications legislation, and
infringement Iitigation, which have been separately considered up to
this point, are beginning to merge.

Since the subcommittee proposal was published, we in the Copy-
right Office have discussed 1t in detail with most of the private inter-
ests involved and with representatives of the FCC. It would be pre-
mature for me to express opinions on any of the specific proposals for
amendments, but it might be helpful for me to try to pinpoint the most
important suggestions concerning the subcommittee’s proposal that
are likely to be ryised here.

Among others at these hearings:

1. On the question of exclusivity, it has been argued by the copy-
right owners and their licensees, the broadcasters, that it 1s unfair to
regard as “gray” the situation in which a CATV system is importing
a program that has already been licensed in the area. Their point,
which certainly deserves consideration, is that a local broadecaster has
o right to insist on exclusivity when he is buying a motion picture or a
syndicated series; if o license to him will automatically permit a com-
munity antenna system to import the same program from another
locality for a reasonable license fee, the value of his supposed exclu-
sivity for which he now pays the copyright owner is destroyed.
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2. Origination: the community antenna operators have challenged
the provision of the proposal under which origination of programing
on a CATYV system, beyond mere news and weather reports, would con-
vert “white” or “gray” situations into full liability. The theory be-
hind the provision was that a CATYV operator should not be permitted
to build a subscribing audience on the basis of other transmitters’
programs and then unfairly profit from them by originating its own
competing programs. It is clear, however, that a new trend in CATV
is toward an emphasis on local service programin%;

3. The extent of the “white” area: Questions have been raised on
both sides as to the extent of the “area normally encompassed” by the
primary broadcaster. Should it be his grade A contour, his grade B
contour, a fixed-mileage radius, or some other criterion? Although the
proposal would leave this to regulations, the House subcommittee gen-
erally regarded the grade B contour of « station as the “area normally
encompassed,” and this may turn out not to be the appropriate area in
some cases.

4. A view has been expressed that in a so-called underserved area,
where CATYV is bringing in ({)rograms that would not be received other-
wise, the committee should consider whether the copyright owner
should be allowed to enjoin this added service. In addition, issues
involving the procedure for giving notice, the method of fixing the
reasonable license fee, and other matters of practice and procedure are
likely to be raised during the hearings, but are too detailed for dis-
cussion here. Important as these matters are, I believe they are essen-
tially details of the House subcommittee proposal.

Out of the multitude of problems involved in copyright law revision,
that of community antenna television is unique in many ways. Be-
cause of the mushrooming growth of the industry, the problem sprang
into existence as a major issue in copyright law revision almost over-
night and without warning. It is one of the few major issues on which
the present law has been unsettled and hotly disputed. It is the only
major issue that is inextricably bound up with policy questions in the
communications field ; these are questions of national importance that
can affect the course of radio and television communications in this
country for years to come. And of the principal disputed issues in re-
vision 1t is by all odds the most complex.

Having lived and worked with this problem over the past several
months, let me say that the active development of CATYV jurispru-
dence, of which these hearings are & part, is one of the most fascinating
studies of the law in action that I have ever seen. The interrelation-
ships and interaction of interests and industries, the need for balancing
between copyright and communications policies, and the impact of
pending court actions on future legislation, all involving the future of
the fastest growing mass communications medium on the American
scene, have left me with a single profound conviction. It is, simply,
that there is no easy shortcut for solving this problem; no outright -
exemption or provision for full liahility would servethe public interest
here. The need is for a reasonable, well-considered compromise, and
for a fairminded, flexible approach on the part of all the interests af-
fected in working toward it.

I have been impressed, during our many discussions of this subject
over the past 3 months, by the constructive spirit and willingness to
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coo;;lemte in working out reasonable compromises manifested by most
of the groups concerned. If this spirit continues to prevail during the
present series of hearings, I believe we will be on the road to an ulti-
mate solution. )

Thank you for permitting us to present this, Mr. Chairman.

Senator Burpbick. Thank you, Mr. Kaminstein. I would say that
you have done an excellent job in outlining the problem.

Mr. KaminsTeIN. Thank you.

Senator Burbick. And you have explained the Kastenmeier posi-
tion. I want toask you a few questions. '

You stated at the end here:

* * ¢ there is no easy shortcut for solving this problem; no outright exemp-
tion or provision for full liability would serve the public interest here.

In other words, that would indicate that somewhere between these
two poles you woiild like to have a solution.

Mr. KaminsTtEIN, Exactly, Mr. Chairman. 1 think the extremes
have been explored. They have been proposed by opposite sides. I do
not think that they are workable in the long run.

Senator Burbick. Do you have any comment on the Kastenmeier
position ¢

Mr. KaminsTEIN. I think it is the only proposal that has received
extensive consideration. While it sounds complex, it tries to work the
equities out in a detailed manner. It avoids large areas of Govern-
ment regulation, particularly as to license fees which it leaves to the
garties to negotiate or, if they cannot agreoe, leaves to the courts to be

ecided in particular cases. I certainly think it is very worthwhile
and should receive the attention of your committee.

Senator Burprck. Does that mean you support the Kastenmeier
position ?

Mr. KaminsTEIN. Certainly, as a basis for going forward.

Senator Burbpick. Would you support it as a basis for a new statute
written by this committee ?

Mr. KaminsteIN. Yes, I would, Mr. Chairman. I think some of
the criticisms leveled at it may have merit, and I think that is for
the consideration both of the House committee and yours.

There are built-in sufeguards. For example, on the third point I
made with respect to the “white” area, the House committee proposal
actually leaves to the Register the designation of the boundaries of
the “white” area within standards laid down under any statute or other
Federal regulation. In other words, it would enable the Register to
adopt regulations laid down by the FCC in defining areas.

Senator Burpick. You also testified that these problems of jurisdic-
tion, copyright applications and others is coming more together. What
do you mean, this should be considered in one bill, jurisdiction, copy-
right, and other applications?

Mr. KaminsTeIN. 1 think copyright legislation might now solve
most of the problems that have been posed in all three areas, in litiga-
tion, in FCS legislation, and in copyright legislation.

Senator Burpick. Do I understand your testimony in summary that
you firmly believe there is a “white” area?

Mr. KaminsTEIN. Yes, sir; I do.

Senator Burpick. And a “black” area ?

Mr. KaminsTeIN. That is right.

i man g Cgenwen 0w e g g
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Senator Burpick. And a“mixed” area?

Mr. KaminsTEIN. Right now under Judge Herlands’ decision, the
entire area is “black.”

Senator Burpick. I understand that. Senator McClellan? Mr.
Brennan,do you have any questions?

Mr. BRenNAN, Yes, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Kaminstein, it would be
helpful to the subcommittee to get your comments on some of the
issues that will arise in the course of these 3 days of hearings. Does
the Copyright Office have any objection in principle to a statutory
requirement for the compulsory licensing of copyrights when this is
deemed to be in the public interest ?

My, KaminsTeIN. The present statute already contains a compulsory
licensing provizion, and as I have indicated, the House committee
proposal containg a provision which, in effect, amounts to a com-
pulsory license. I see no objection to its use in this way.

Mr. BReNNAN. You testified last year in support of a compulsory
licensing requirement with respect to musical recordings. Would you
not agree that there is a greater public interest in assuring the public
nccess to a larger number of TV channels than with respect to multi-
ple recordings of the same composition ¢

Mr. KamMINsTEIN, My answer to that would be qualified. I think
these matters are so important, reaching over into both copyright
and communications areas, that they must be considered in the light
of the particular situation. This is what the House committee pro-
posal tries to do, to consider the equities in particular situations.

Mr. BrennaN. But you do recognize that there is a public interest
in having access to a variety of T'V stations.

Mr. KaminsreIN, Certainly. I think the House committee proposal
leads in that direction.

Mr. Brennan. Is there any objection in principle to a statutory rate
or fee schedule?

Mr. KanminsTeIN. I think there is. A compulsory license provision
has to be used in a very guarded fashion, that is, only when it is
absolutely necessm?/.

When you establish a statutory rate, you face a host of problems,
One is that the statutory rate will be fixed for a great number of years.
For example, the present provision in the 1909 statute as to musical
recordings has remained at 2 cents for more than 57 years now.

In addition, when you try to fix a total rate for 21l works used, you
face all the problems of distribution, which in some cases may be
insurmountable.

Senator Burpick. I have just one last good question. If a copyright
is o property right, a property interest, why is any use of that right
permitted without consent of the owner?

Mr. KaminsTEIN. Senator Burdick, I think you will find that some
of the witnesses will argue that any use is an infringement of their -
groperty right. My own feeling is that we should be a little more .

exible than that, and the present statute does bend in that it contains
a compulsory license provision with respect to records.

Senator Burpick. I want your reasons why.

My, Kaminstein,. Why it should be?

Senator Burpick. Yes.
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Mr. KaminsteIn, Well, in considering the 1909 law, a great part of
the hearings at that time were devoted to tl'yin%1 to arrive at a com-
promise in giving the cop{right owner of music the right to record his
music for use on piano rolls and phonograph records, while glV].ﬂﬁ‘ all
recording companies access to the music recorded by any one of them

As I indicated to Mr. Brennan, a compulsory license provision should
be used very sparingly, but I think it has its uses and should be avail-
able in crucial situations.

I don’t think this is an absolute right, and I don’t think it can be
treated as such in this situation.

Senator Burbrok. That is your answer, that it is not an absolute

ri%wht.
r. KamMinsTEIN. That is right.

Senator Burprck. Thank you.

Mr. KaminsTEIN. I think the Congress has the ability to adapt it to
a particular situation, For example, in the “white” area, the market
of the copyri]ght proprietor is being broadened in the area for which
his right 1s sold, so that there is no real damage,

Senator Burpick. There is no damage, but he has a right that has
been used.

Mr. KamansteIN. In theory I think that is absolutely correct.

Senator Burprox. And I am trying to get the rationale for saying
that it shouldn’t apply in all cases. \

Mr. KaminsTEIN, 1 certainly agree that it should not apply in all
cases. I think a compulsory license should be used onl in crucial cases
where no other agreement or compromise can be a,rrivegy at.

Senator Buroick. Thank you very much.

The next witness is Mr, Rosel H. Hyde, Chairman of the Federal
Communications Commission.

Would you introduce your associates also for the record?

STATEMENT OF ROSEL H. HYDE, CHAIRMAN, FEDERAL COMMUNI-
CATIONS COMMISSION; ACCOMPANIED BY HENRY GELLER, GEN-
ERAL COUNSEL, AND ARTHUR STAMBLER, LEGAL COUNSEL TO
THE CHAIRMAN

Mr. Hype. I have at my right Henry Geller, General Counsel to
the Federal Communications mmission, to my left A rthur Stambler,
Leg:zl Counsel to the Chairman.

. My nume is Rosel H. Hyde, Chairman of the Federal Communica-
tions Commission. I appreciate this oportunity to present our views
concerning the proposed revision of copyright law in the area of
community antenna television—CATV—which is an active cur-
rently subject to comprehensive Commission regulation. The Com-
mission has long recognized that, for reasons I shall develo , COpY-
rig_[}.]t' is a key factor in the community antenna television field.

he relationship between CATV and television broadcasters under
the Communications Act has been one of the most important and
most difficult problems facing the Commission in recent years. The
Commission’s CATV program, set forth in our second ‘report and
order of March 8, 1966, represents what we believe to be an effective
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" compromise of the divergent views of the several Commissioners as
- to the need for Commission regulatory direction of CATV develop-
ment under nresent circumstances, namely, with no definitive, settled
copyright requirements. However, there is far greater unanimity in
the Commission that copyright considerations should play an instru-
mental role in the CATYV field and that the resolution of the copyright
problem may have a most significant effect upon the CATYV regulatory
program which we have recently adopted.

In this light, I believe it would be helpful to the subcommittee if
I wers to first provide a summary of our CATV rules and policies
which will serve as a backdrop for my subsequent comments on the
copyright issue itself.

he Commission has given the matter of CATYV intensive study

over recent, years and has conducted a number of dpublic rulemaking
proceedings. Qur second report and order provides rules to govern
the operation of all CATV systems. The report is a lengthy one and
the regulations complex. ther than attempting to set forth its
full details here, I respectfully request that the second report be in-
corporated in the record, and I will here only briefly point up some
highlights of the report, particularly as they relate to the copyright
guestion before you.

Senator Burbick. Without objection, that will be done.

(The report follows:)

[From the Federal Reglster, Mar, 17, 1966]

i
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[From the Federal Register, Mar. 17, 1966)

[March 17, 1966)
[P. 4540}

Title 47—TELECOMMUNICATION

Chapter |—Federal Communications
Commission

(Docket Nos. 14805, 16233, 16971; FCO
66-220)

PART 21—DOMESTIC PUBLIC RADIO
SERVICES (OTHER THAN MARITIME
“MOBILE) ' .

PART 74—EXPERIMENTAL, AUXIL-
IARY AND SPECIAL BROADCAST
SERVICES

PART 91—INDUSTRIAL RADIO
SERVICES

Community Antenna Television
(CATV)} Systems

In the matter of amendment of Sub-

art L, Part 91, to adopt rules and regu-
ations to govern the grant of authori-
zattons in the Business Radio Service for
microwave stations to relay television
signals to community antenna systems,
Docket No. 14895; amendment of Sub-
part I, Part 21 to adopt rules and regu-
lations to govern the grant of authori-
zations in the Domestic Public Point-to-
Point Microwave Radio Service for
microwave stations used to relay televi-
slon broadcast signals to community
antenna television systems, Docket No.
165233; amendment of Parts 21, 74, and
91 to adopt rules and regulations relating
to the distribution of television broad-
cast signals by community antenna tele-
vision systems, and related matters,
Docket No. 16971 (RM Nos. 636, 672,-742,
1765 and 766) .

1. On April 23, 1965, the Commission
issued a notice of inquiry and notice of
proposed rule making in Docket No. 16971
(30 F.R. 6078), which divided the pro-
ceeding into two parts. In Part.I the
Commission reached an initial conclu-
sion that it has jurisdiction: over all
community antenna television (CATV)
systems, whether or not microwave fa-
cilities are used, and proposed to extend
to nonmicrowave CATV systems the sub-
stantive provisions of the carriage and
nonduplication rules adopted for micro-
wave-served CATV's in Docket Nos. 14806
and 15233, First report and order in
Docket Nos. 14895 'and 16233, 30 FCC
683; memorandum opinion and order in
Docket Nos. 14895 and 15233, 1 FCC 2d
§24. Part I also invited comment on
varlous auxillary questions affecting all
CATV's which were not resolved in Dock-

-

et Nos., 14895 and 156233. These have to
do with™color duplication, educational
television stations, station-owned trans-
lators, and a possible transition period
before the carriage provisions are made
fully applicable to existing CATV sys-
tems with limited channel capacity (no-
tice, pars. 33-36).

2, In Fart II of the proceeding the
Commission Initiated an inquiry looking
toward possible rule making on broader
questions posed by the trend of CATV
development, including (1) the effect of
CATV entry into major cities on UHF
independent stations, (3) the possible
need for limitations on the distance a
station’s slgnal may be extended by
CATV, (3) "leap-frogging,”® (4) pro-
gram origination or alteration by CATV
and the related question of Pay-TV or
combined CATV-Pay-TV operations,
and (6) various miscellaneous questions.
In paragraph 49 of Part II the Commis-
sion adopted an interim policy, pending
the outcome of the proceeding, which
provides that a microwave application
to serve a CATV system in a community
with four or more commercial channel
assignments and three or more stations
in operation (or with at least two sta-

. tlons in operation and one or more sta-

tions authorized or applied for) must
be accompanied by a clear and full show-
ing that in the particular circumstances
e grant would not pose a substantial
threat to the development of independent
UHF service in the area. A like show-
ing was required for microwave facili-
ties to serve a CA'['V system in an “over-
shadowed' community where, because of
its proximity to three or more existing
stations, any new UHF station would be
independent in operation, In paragraph
50 of Part YI, the Commission proposed
an interim rule along similar lines to
govern nonmicrowave CATV entry into
such areas.

3. Comment on Part I and paragraph

. 50 of Part IT was due at an earlier date

than that specified for the remalning
portions of Part II' which, it was an-
ticipated, would require more lengthy

1 “Leap-frogging” means the distribution
by the CATV system of more distant signals
in preference to signals of stations located
much closer to the system.

tComments and reply comments on Part
I and par. 50 were originally due on June 25
and July 26, 1065, respectively. By orders
fesued on June 16 and June 30, 1965, these
times for filing were extended to July 26
and Bept, 17, 1866, Formal comments and /or
reply comments have been received from the
parties listed in the attached Appendix A,
In addition, a large number of informal
commenta or letters from members of the
public have been recelved and placed in the
docket,
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consideration and possibly a further
notice to afford an opportunity for com-
ment on any specific rule proposals of
the Commission (notice, pars. 64, 68).
Comments and reply comments on Part I
and paragraph 50 have now been fully
considered by the Commission. This re-
port and order_ deals only with these
aspects of the proceeding.

PART I. THE CARRIAGE AND NONDUPLICA-
TION PROVISIONS

- 4. In proposing that the substantive
provisions c¢f the carriage and nondupli-
cation rules governing microwave CATV
systems be extended to all CATV sys~-
tems, the notice emphasized (pars. 27,
30) that two main issues were presented:
(1) Whether the Commission can appro-
priately proceed on the basis of its
present statutory authority and (2)
whether any special problems of sub-
stance or procedure are posed by rules
going to nonmicrowave systems. We

turn now to a discussion of the first issue.

5. The threshold jurisdictional ques-
tion is twofold: (a) Whether the Com-~
mission has jurisdiction as a matter of
law over nonmicrowave CATV systems
under the present provisions of the Com-
munications Aet and (b) whether it
would be appropriate to exercise ary
such jurisdiction without a legislative
enactment on the subject. In the notice
we concluded initially, for the reasons
set forth in our memorandum on juris-
diction attached to the notice, that CATV
systems are engaged in interstate com-
munication by wire to which the pro-
visions of the Communications Act are
applicable (secs. 2(a) and 3(a), 47 U.S.C.
152(a) and 153(a)). It further ap-
peared to us that the Commission's stat-
utory powers, particularly under sections
4(1), 303 (), (h, and (1, include au-~
thority to promalgate necessary and rea-
sonable regulations to carry out.the pro-
visions of séction } and 307(b) of the
Act and to prevent frustration of the
regulatory scheme by CATV operations,
irrespective of the use of nicrowave.
However, we pointed up the following
matters (par. 31 of the notice) :

While we have initially concluded that we
have jurisdiction, we would carefully con-
sider comments addressed to this aspect.
The attached memorandum presents the case
_for jurisdiction—a strong one in our view—
and 1s set out in order to afford interested
parties a full opportunity to direct their
comments to that case. Second, we adhere
to our position that claritying legislation
would be desirable, and have no intention
of bypassing congressional actlion in this
fleld, We are clearly concerned here with
new and important questions of policy and
law in the communications 1leld. That being
the case, the Commission would welcome (1)
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a congressional guidance as to policy and
(11) congressional clarification of our au-
thority, which would lay the troublesome
jurisdictional question at rest,

It s our understanding that hearings will
shortly commence. The information gath-
ered in this proceeding will, we think, be
of assistance to the Congress in its con-
sideration of the matter. In short, by in-
atituting this proceeding, we shall gather
essenttal data, both for the Commission and
the Congress, and will have conserved valu-
able.time and be in a position to take final
effective action in elther of two eventuali-
ties: (1) Congress has enacted legislation in
this fleld which does not preclude the Com-
mission from promulgating rules along the
lines of those adopted in Docket Nos. 14896
and 16233; or (2) no legislation is forth-
coming, and the comments in the rule-_
making proceeding lead to the conclusion
that the Commissio™ does have present juris-
diction to extend Y : substantive provisions
of the rules adopted in the above dockets
to all CATV systems, whether or not they
use microwave factlities. In the latter event,
we would be remiss in our statutory duties
if we had falled to exerclse, without undue
delay, our existing jurisdiction and authority
to promote a public interest in this im-
portant area. The rule-making proceeding
instituted by this notice will thus be con-
ducted concurrently with legislative con.
slderation, with final Commission decision
withheld for an appropriate periodl to afford
Congress aa opportunity to act.

6. Following the issuance of the notice,
H.R. 7715 was introduced in the House on
April 28, 1965, and heurings on the bill
were held before the Subcommittee on
Communications and Power of the House
Committee on Interstate_and Foreign

[P. 4541]

Commerce in May and June 1965. In the
Commission’s testimony concerning the
bill, it was stated that the Commission
did ‘“not contemplate applying any new
rules that we may enact with respect to
the rest of the CATV industry until 1966,
in other words, until at least after this
session of Congress 1s over and it has had
the ability to consider this problem.”
(Hearings before the Subcommittee on
Communications and Power of the House
Committee on Interstate and Foreign
Commerce on H.R, 7715, 89th Cong., 1st
sess., p. 25.) No bill relating to CATV
has been introduced in the Senate, and
the 89th Congress adjourned its 1st ses-
sion without enacting any legislation on
CATV. )
7. We think it appropriate, therefore, -
to take up without further delay Part I
and paragraph 50 of the rulemaking pro-
ceeding, Here we note that CATV is
developing and expanding at a very rapid
rate (see pars, 31-39 within). We
cannot Ignore the increasing risk of ad-
jverse impact on the “public interest in
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the larger and more effective use of radio”
(section 303(g)) which accompanies the
burgeoning CATV development. See
paragraphs 116-117; Part II, within,
Further, it is contrary to sound regula-
tion for carriage and nonduplication to be
applicable to the microwave CATV sys-
tem and inapplicable fo the nonmicro-
wave, which constitutes the other three-
fourths of the industry. And, if the
carriage and nonduplication provisions
are to be applied to nonmicrowave sys-
tems, it would obviously minimize the
disruption to the viewing public to do so
as s00n as possible—before a large num-
ber of incipient CATV systems commence
operation and their subscribers, become
accustomed to service not in compliance
with the rules. It would also appear to
entail less hardship to the new CATV
operator to commence operation under
the rules than to undergo a subsequent
conversion. Moreover, removal of the
present uncertainty would assist local
franchising authorities, as.-well as fran-
chige applicants. We have received sev-
eral inquiries from local authorities as to
when a decision might be expected, with
an indication in some instances that
action on franchise applications was he-
ing withheld pending our decision. The
“introduction of as much stability as pos-
sible into the planning perspective of
those affected by our regulation” is re-
garded by us as a “highly desirable ob-
jective” (first report and order jn Docket
Nos. 14895 and 15233, par. 78). For all
these considerations,
fully within, we think it our responsibility
under the Communications Act to resolve
the issues in Part I and paragraph 60,

A. JURISDICTION AS A MATTER OF LAW

8. While the comments filed in sup-
port of present jurisdiction outnumber
those opposed;® there appears to be no

* Supporting comments were flled by: Na-
tional Assoclation of Broadcasters; Associa-
tion of Maximum BService Telecasters, Inc.:
Storer Broadcasting Co.; American Broad.
casting Co.; Westinghouse Broadcastlng.Co.,
Inc.; Fuqua Industries, Inc.; WTVY, Inc.;
8nyder & Assoclates; Western Slope Broad-
casting Co.; Black Canon Broadcasting Co.:
Mesa Verde Broadcasting Co.; Houston Post
Co.; WKBH Television, Inc.; Bonneville In-
ternational Corp.; Mobile Video Tapes, Inc.;
D. H. Overmyer; Aroostook Broadcasting
Corp.: Taft Broadcasting Co.; WJAC, Inc.;
Springfield Television Broadcasting Corp.;
Midwest Televislon, Inc.; West Central
Broadcasting Co.; RustCraft Broadcasting
Co.; WGAL Televislon, Itic.; American Farm
Bureau Federation; National Farmers Union;
National Grange; Tri-State TV Translators
Assoclation; Labor Organizations Afliated
With the AFL~CIO; Eastern Educational Net-'
work; and commenting jointly, television sta-

developed more ’
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need to review the substance of the sup-
porting comments here. The bulk of the
supporting comments either restate es-
sentially the same matters set forth ‘in
the Commission’s memorandum on its
jurisdiction and authority (notice, at-
tachment B) or express agreement with
that memorandum. 8ince we believe
that the case for jurisdiction is suffi-
clently set forth in our memorandum, a
copy of which 1s attached to this docu-
ment for convenient reference (attach-
ment C), we shall discuss only the
arguments made in - the opposition
comments.

9. The comments urging a want of
jurisdiction make three principal argu-
ments. It is asserted, first, that the
Communications Act contains no provi-
sion granting the Commission authority
over CATV systems. Second, it is con-
tended that there are specific provisions
in the Act which show a lack of author-
ity. And, third, it is urged that the
Commission itself has repeatedly denied
jurisdiction over CATV systems, that
Congress is eware of and has acquiesced
in this administrative interpretation,
and that principles of statutory con-
struction foreclose the Commission from
now claiming jurisdiction. We shall
discuss these arguments in order.

10. The contention that the Commu-
nications Act contains no provision
granting the Commission authority over
CATYV systems takes issue with the suf-
ficlency of the statutory base set forth
-in the Commission’s memorandum (pp.
2-7). We there relied on the fact that
section 2(a) states that the “provisions

tions KHOU-TV, KOTV, RXTX, WANE-TV,
WAVE-TV, WFIE-TV, WFRV, WISH-TV,
WIXT, WMT-TV, WNOK-TV, WTOP-TV.
Opposition—Commenting in opposition to
Jurisdiction were: National Community "ele-
vision Assoclation, Inc.; Smith & Pepper (on
behalf of 160 CATV systems); Columblia
Broadcasting System; National Broadcasting
Co.; TV Cable Service of Abllene, Inc.: En-
tron, Inc.; American Cable Television, Inc.;
Meredith Broadcasting Co.; Triangle Pub-
lcations, Inc.; Jerrold Electronics Corp.;
International Teleprompter Corp.; Mont-
gomery Television Association, Inc.; and
Journal Co. Other—American Telephone &
Telegraph cq. and United States Independ-
ent Telephorie Assoclation took no position
on the jurisdictional question but requested
that the carrlage and nonduplication provi-
sions be applied to CATV systems directly
r}ther than to microwave common carrlers.

¢ While Storer Broadcasting Co. does not
agree with the Impact argument (Commis-"
sion's memorandum pp. 4-5) as a jurisdic-
tional base, it takes the position that the
Commisslon now has limited jurisdiction
over all CATV systems which 18 suMclent to
suppg;t the measures proposed in Part I and
par, 50, .
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of this Act shall apply to all interstate
and forelgn communication by wire or
radio * * * and to all persons engaged
within the United States in such com-
munication,” and concluded that CATV
systems are engaged in “communication
by wire,” within the meaning of section
3¢(a), which is interstate in nature.
With respect to the provisions of the Act
to be applied, we stated that the author-
ity conferred by section 303(h) to issue
rules establishing the area or zone to be
served by any station includes the power
to prevent infringement of the rules by
“any person” (secs. 312(b) and 502 of
the Communications Act), and specifi-
cally a person subject to the provisions
of the Act, and encompasses authority to
specify by rule the conditions under
which the station's signal may be ex-
tended beyond the prescribed service
area or zone by CATV. Moreover, apart
from section 303(h), the general rule
making authority of the Commission
(secs. 4(1) and 303 (D) and (r)) includes
authority to take necessary action, not
inconsistent with the Act or law, to pre-
vent frustration of section 307(b) by
CATV—an “interstate communication
by wire” to which the Act's provisions
are applicable (secs. 2(a) and 3(a)).
.11, It 1s asserted that these sections
do not suffice to support jurisdiction be-
cause it 1s necessary to find some specific
provision of the Act expressly conferring
jurisdiction over the subject matter of
CATV. The authorities cited in our
memorandum (pp. 4-6) to the effect that
our authority does not depend on a spe-
cific reference to CATV or CATV prac-
tices in the Act® are distinguished on
the ground that they concern authority
over unspecified practices of regulated
licensees rather than the power to regu-
late unspecified persons or businesses not
licensed under the Act. Unless specific
authority is required for regulation of.
nonlicensees, it is argued, the Commis-
sion could utilize its general rule making
authority to regulate any business (such
" ag amusements, program producers, etc.)
which has an impact on broadeasting or
uses communications facilities. o
12. The attempted distinction, even
assuming arguendo its validity, does not

SNational Broadcasting ©Co. v. Uhited
States, 319 U.8. 100, 218-219; United States v,
. Storer Broadcasting Co.; 351 U.8. 192, 203;
American .Trucking Association.v. United
States, 344 U.8, 208, 309-311; United States v.
Pennsylvania RR. Co.; 323 U.S. 612; United

States v. Wrightwood Dairy Co., 315 U.8, 110; "

Houston, East & West Teéxas Rallway Co. v.’
United States, 234 U.8. 342, Public ‘Setrvice
Commiission of State of New York v, Fedetal
Powér Commission, 327 ¥. 2d 803, 697
(C.AD.C.).
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fit the situation here. We are not pre-
sented with the question of whether the
Commission’s broad powers to take ac-
tlon necessary to carry out the provi-
sions of the Act Include authority to
regulate- & business not subject to the
Act merely because of some impact on,
[P. 4542} .

or use of, interstate communications un-
der the Act* CATYV systems differ from
most other businesses.in that they are
themselves engaged in “Interstate com-
munication by wire,” a business to which
the Act's provisions are expressly ap-
plicable (secs. 2(a), 3(a)).! Moreover,
they physically intercept and extend
television signals, and thus -have a
uniquely close relationship to the regu-
latory scheme embodied in sections 303
(h) and 307(b). We are not powerless
to prevent frustration of our actions
under those sections by persons subject
to the Act merely because the licensing
provisions of the statute are inappltcable
to them. B8ection 312 (b) and (¢) pro-
vide for the issuance of & cease and
desist order against ‘‘any person’—not
merely any “licensee or permittee’’—
who has “violated or failed to observe
any rule or regulation of the Commis-
sfon authorized in this Act * * *.”

13. It is further asserted that Federal
Power Commission v. Panhandle Eastern
Pipeline Co., 337 U.8. 498, precludes a
conclusion that the general rule making

¢We have not claimed plenary power to
regulate any business which may have some
impact on broadcasting or other interstate
communication by wire or radio. In the
jurisdictional memorandum we stated that
the “Commission clearly has no jurisdiction
over bowling alleys or theatres, for example
¢ ¢ o Moreover, we sought and obtained
specific statutory authority to regulate'the
manufacture of television receivers shipped
in interstate commerce for sale.to the pub-
llc (Public Law 87-520, 47 U.8.C. 303(s)).
There may be instances, of course; whete the
Commission's regulatory power appropriately
extends to some activitiea of persons not en-
gaged in communication by wire or radio.
But there is not necessity to determine the
limits or baslis for such authority here.

?8ince CATV systems fall within the defi-
nitlon of communicatien by wire and their
operations are interatate in nature, it makes
no difference that they are not expressly
mentfoned by name., The Act applies to “all
interstate communication by wire or radio”
and to “all persons erigaged in such commu-
nication” (sec. 3(a), italic added). ¥For that
matter, prior to the 1962 amendment incor-
porating section 303(s), the word *'television”
did not appear in the Act. Yet, it has'long
bean established thdt the Act applies to tele-,
-vision because it falls within the definitfons
of “radio communication” and “transmission
of energy by radio"” contained in sectfon 3.
Allen B. Dumont Labes, Inc., v. Carroll, 184

" F. 24 183, 166 (C.A. 8), cert. den. 340 U.8. 920,
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power of the Commission encompasses
authority to take necessary action, not
inconsistent with the Act or law, to pre-
vent frustration of section 307(h) and
303¢h) by CATV. However, the Pan-
handle case is readily distinguishable.
That case was declded upon the basis of
a specific provision in the Natural Gas
Act which denled the Federal Power
Commission jurisdiction to deal with the
problem there involved® Bection 1(b)
of the Natural Gas Act provides that the
‘*provisions of this Act shall apply ¢ * *
to the sale In interstate commerce of
natural gas for resale * * * but shall not
apply * * * to the production or gather-
ing of natural gas” (62 Stat. 821, 16
U.8.C.sec. 717(b)). The Court held that
the transfer of gas leases fell within the
exclusion as to the “production or gath-
ering of natural gas” and hence lay out-
side the scope of the Power Commission’s
regulatory powers. In declining to find
authority in the Power Commission’s
general rule making powers, the Court
stated that the “power to do the things
appropriate to carry out the provisions
of the Act can hardly be taken to rescind
A prohibition against certain actions”
(337 U.S. at 508). By contrast, there is
no provision in the Communications Act
which specifically excludes CATV sys-
tems from the Commission’s jurisdiction.
On the contrary, section 2(a) states that
the-"provisions of this Act shall apply to
all interstate communication by wire or
radlo * * * and to all persons engaged
within the United States in such com-
munication * * * (italic added).” More-
over, Panhandle has been construed
narrowly in a recent case arising under
the Natural Gas Act, which sustained
the Power Commission’s jurisdiction over
gas leases for resale in interstate com-
merce, United Gas Improvement Co. v.
Continental Oil Co., 381 U.8. 392, 403~
404. .

14. The argument that the Commu-
nications Act contains language expressly
excluding jurisdiction over CATV sys-
tems, 15 predicated primarily on the pro-
visions of section 2(b) and section 214
(a) of the Act. Section 2(b) states that
nothing in the Act shall be construed to
give the Commission jurisdiction with
respect to “Intrastate communication
service by wire or radio of any carrier”
or “any carrier engaged in interstate or
foreign communication solely through

epmE——————

¢ Other Federal Power Commission cases
cited in the comments, Amerada Petroleum
Oorp. v. Federal Power Commission, 334 ¥ 34
404 (O.A. .8), and Pan American Petroleum
Corp. v.. Federal Power Commission, 839 F.
2d 694, are similarly inappoeite since they
involved & lack of jurisdiction predicated
upnon & statutory exclualon. :
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connection by radio, or by wire and radio
with facilities located in an adjoinin
State * * * of another carrfer ¢ * *."
Section 214(a) provides, in pertinent
part, that “no carrier” shall construet
or operate a line without a prior cer-
tificate from the Commission: Provided,
however, That no certificate s required
for construction or operation of “a line
within a single State unless such line
constitutes part of an interstate line.”
It further states: ““As used in this section
the term ‘line’ means any channel of
communication established by the inter-
co;mectlon of two or more existing chan-
nels.”

15. We are not persuaded that these
sections demonstrate a statutory denial
of jurisdiction over CATV systems. In
the first place, both sections by their
terms apply to “carriers” and we have
repeatedly ruled that CATV systems are
not “carriers”’ within the meaning of
section 3(h) of the Act. Frontier Broad-
casting Co., 24 FCC 251; CATV and TV
Repeater Services, 26 FCC 403, 427-428;
WSTYV, Inc. v. Fortnightly Corp., 23 Pike
and Fischer, R.R. 184; Philadelphia Tele-
vision Broadcasting Co., et al., FCC 65—
702 (Aug. 8, 1965). Nor are television
stalions “carriers” under section 3¢h).
Moreover, even if CATV systems were to
be deemed oarriers, their operations are
interstate in nature since they are carry-
ing interstate television signals. A com-
mon carrier carrying television signals
does not fall within the exemption in
section 2(b) (1) because its physical fa-
cllities are located in only one State; it
“performs an interstate communications
service.” Idaho Microwave, Inc. v. Fed-
eral Communications Commission, 352
F. 2¢ 129 (C.AD.C.); Ward v. Northern
Ohjo 'Telephone Co., 300 F. 2d 816 (C.A.
6), cert. den. 371 U.8. 820; Pacific Tela~
tronics, Inc.,, 4 Plke and Fischer, R.R.
148; and cf, California Interstate Tele-
phone Co. v. Federal Communications
Commission 328 F. 2d 816 (C.AD.C.).*
See als0, United States v. American Tele-
phone & Telegraph Co., 57 F. Supp. 451,
454 (3.D.N.Y.), aff’d percuriam, sub nom.

—

* That the carrler in Idaho Microwave was
caIrrying the signal of a television station lo-
cated .n another State {8 not of controlling
significance. All television broadcasting is
interstate in nature. Ward v. Northern Ohto
Telephone Co., 300 F'. 2d 816 (C.A. 6), cert.
den. 371 U.B. 820; Capital City Telephone Co.,
3 FCO 189, 163-4; Federal Radfo Commisston
v. Nelson Bros. Bond & Mortgage Co., 280 U.8S.
466, 270. Moreover, in the case of network
prograniing the communication link between
the network and the station transmitter
forms an additional part of the interstate
chaln of communication, *‘Ward, supra, 300
P 2d at 819, .
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Hotel Astor v. United States, 325 U.S.
837. By the same token a CATV system,
if it were a carrier, would constitute “part
of an Interstate line” for purposes of
section 214(a), even though its facilities
were located within a single State.

16. The most vigorously pressed argu-
ment against jurisdiction is the asser-
tion that the Commission is estopped by
past disclaimers of jurisdiction over
CATV systems and congressional ac-
quiescence in those disclaimers (see par.
28 of the notice herein). Reliance is
placed on the principle of statutory con-
struction that a consistent, longstanding
administrative interpretation is entitled
to great weight, particularly where Con-
.gress i1s aware of the administrative de-
termination and has subsequently
amended the statute without changl
the applicable section.” Whatever the
force of this principle in other circum-
stances, we do not think that it i1s dis-
positive of the legal question of our
Jurisdiction here,

17. Initially, it bears noting that some
of the precedents clted as establishing
a consistent contrary position primarily
concerned matters upon which we do
not rely as a basls for jurisdiction. We
have conslistently held that CATV sys-
tems are not common carriers within the
meaning of section 3(h), and hence do
not come within the provisions of Title
II applicable to carrlers. Frontier
Broadcasting Co., 24 FCC 251; CATV and
TV Repeater Services, 26 FCC 403, 427-
248; WSTV, Inc. v. Fortnightly Corp.,
23 Pike & Fischer, R.R. 184. But we have

[P. 4543]

not proposed to depart from this ruling,
which has been reafirmed since the issu.-
ance of the notice herein. Philadelphia
Television Broadcasters Co., et al. v. Rol-
Mins Broadcasting, Inc., Docket No.
15926 (FCC 65-702, Aug. 2, 1965) now
pending on appeal (case No. 19577,
C.AD.C.). Nor have we departed from
our earlier rulings that CATV's are not
engaged in “broadcasting” within the
meaning of section 3(o) and are not en-
compassed within section 326(a). CATV
and TV Repeater Services, 26 FCC 403,
428-430. In areas closer to the claimed
basis for jurisdiction, the precedents do
not reflect a consistent contrary posi-
tion.* Thus, while we initially dis-

10 Cases cited to us in this connection in-
clude: Hanover Bank, Ex. v. O.I.R, 369 U.8,
6732, 686-687; United States v, Leslle Salt Co.,
350 U.8. 383, 306-307; Norweglan Nitrogen
Co. v. United States, 288 U.8, 304, 316; Luck-
enback Steamship Co. v. United States, 280
U8, 178, 183; Cammarano v. United States,
368 U.8, 498,

"' The position of Congress, it it has ac-
quiesced in the Commission’s rulings, is not

N
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claimed jurisdiction to deny & common
carrier microwave authorization to re-
lay television signals to CATV systems
(Intermountain Microwave, 24 FCC 54:
CATV and TV Repeater Services, 26
FCC 403, 431-433), this ruling was later
reversed in our Carter Mountain deci-
ston, 32 FCC 459, which was sustained
on judicial review. Carter Mountain
Transmission Corp. v. Federal Communi-
cations Commission, 321 F. 2d 359, 364
(C.A.D.C.), cert. den, 375 U.S. 951. In
CATYV and TV Repeater Services, we dis-
claimed plenary power, under section
303 (a), (b), (N, (g), (1), and (v), to
“regulate any and all enterprises which
happen to be connected with one of the
many aspects of communications” (28
"FCC at 429) a power which is not
claimed here. However, we assumed,
without deciding, that CATV's are within
the scope of section 3(a) (26 FOC at
428), and also found it unnecessary to
bass on the question of our authority to
regulate them directly because of adverse
effect on broadcasting (26 FCC at 431).
And, finally, we have not previously ruled
on the question of whether section 303
(h) encompasses authority to regulate
CATV. )
18. More important, even if our past
rulings in this troublesome area had been
consistent, we are not estopped from cor-
recting a ruling of law which appears to
be clearly erroneous. Carter Mountain
Transmission Corp. v. Federal Com-
munications Commission, 321 F. 2d 359,
364 (C.A.D.C.), cert. den. 375 U.S. 951:
Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Wisconsin, 347
U.8, 672; United Gas Improvement Co.
v. Continental Oll Co., 381 U.S. 302, ¢04-
406" As the Supreme Court come
mented in the Phillips Petroleum case,

“olear. It is true, a8 set forth in the notice,
par. 28, that following our decision in CATV
and TV Repeater Services, 26 FCC 403, the
86th Congress gave extensive consideration
to some of the various legislative proposals
on CATV submitted by the Commission and
others, but enacted no legislation. More-
over, bills introduced in subsequent Con-
gresses recelved no action., However, Con-
gress also took no action after being apprised
of the partlal reversal of that decision in
Carter Mountain. Twenty-ninth ¥CC An-
nual Report, 1963, Congress likewise 1s
aware of our initial conclusion as to jurisdtc-
tion In the notice herefn fssued on Apr. 23,
1866. Although a subcommittee of the House
Commerce Committee subsequently held
hearings on H.R. 7716, no committee report
{ssued in the 1st session of the 89th Con-
greas, and no legislation on CATV was con-
sidered or introduced in the Senate.

17 See also, Calbeck v, Travellers Ins. Co.,
370 U8, 114, 127, tn. 18 Automobile Club of
Michigan v. Commissioner, 363 U.S. 180, 183,
Assoclation of Clerical Employees v. Brother-
?gg‘d gl R. & 88, Clerks, 85 F. 34 153, 156

- )o ¢
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in sustaining the Federal Power Com-
mission’s jurisdiction over the sale of
gas by gas producers for resale in inter-
state commerce despite that agency’s
consistent past disclaimer of jurisdic-
tion, “even consistent error is still error”
(347 U.S. 672, 678, fn, 5). Moreover, in
United Gas Improvement the authority
of the Power Commission over gas leases
for resale in interstate commerce was
upheld, notwithstanding the fact that
the agency had initially concluded in the
same proceeding that it lacked juris-
diction and then reversed itself on re-
mand (on another ground) from a court
of appeals decision which assumed a
lack of authority on the basis of Pan-
handle (381 U.8. at 404-406). Public
Service Commission of New York v. Fed-
eral Power Commission, 287 F. 24 143,
145 (C.AD.C).

19. As Indicated in the notice (par.
28), our “jurisdiction to regulate non-
microwave CATV systems under the
present provisions of the Communica-
tions Act is obviously subject to reason-
able difference of opinion.” However,
the arguments discussed above do not
persuade us that jurisdiction is lacking,
and no other bar to jurisdiction has been
brought to our attentfon, After careful
consideration of all the comments we
are convinced that the case for present
Jurisdiction is a strong one. Accord-
ingly, for the reasons set forth above
and in our memorandum as to jurisdic-
tion (Appendix C), we conclude that
CATYV systems are engaged in interstate
communication by wire to which the
provisions of the Communications Act
are applicable (secs. 2(a) and 3(a), 47
U.8.C. 152(a) and 153(a)). We furiher

conclude that our statutory powers, par-

ticularly under section 4(1), 303 (f), (g),
(h), and (r), include authority to pro-
mulgate necessary and reasonable regu-
lations to carry out the provisions of
sections 1, 307(b), and 303(s) of the Act
and to prevent frustration of the regu-
latory scheme by CATV operations,
whether or not microwave facllitles are
used. The rules proposed in Part I and
paragraph 50 of the nolice are within
our legal authority.

B. ASSERTION OF JURISDICTION

20. We turn now to the further ques-
tion of whether jurisdiction over non-
microwave CATV shquld be exercised at
this time. Most of the comments in
support of jurisdiction favored an imme-
diate extension of the carriage and non-
duplication requirements to nonmicro-
wave CATV systems, and the adoption
of an interim policy either along the
lines proposed in paragraph 850 of the

notice or of broader scope. However
some of the supporting comments anc
many of the opposition comments took
the position that we should not exercise
jurisdiction, even if present, until Con~
gress has legislated on the subject. Itlis
urged that this would provide neede.
policy guidelines and avoid protractec
litigation on the jurisdictional issue.

21. We stated in the notice (par. 31)
that we would ‘welcome (i) a congres-
slonal guidance as to policy and (i) con-
gressional clarification of our authority,
which would lay the tronblesome juris-
dictional question at rest.” In this re-
port, we stress again the desirability in
our view of congressional guidance in this
important area. But thus far the con-
gressional guidance or clarification has
not been forthcoming; and in the present
circumstances, our decision cannot prop-
erly turn on a desire to avold litigation
or on the hope of obtaining policy guid-
ance in the CATV flield. The Commis-
sion has not been “left at large"” as to the
criterion to be following in performing
our statutory duties in the dynamic com-
munications field. National Broadcast-
ing Co. v. United States, 319 U.S. 180,
219-220. The public interest touchstone
provided by Congress afforded a sufficlent
standard for our decision to adopt the
carriage and nonduplication require~
ments for microwave-served CATV sys-
tems in the first report and order In
Docket Nos. 14895 and 15233. Since the
“considerations underlying our conclu-
sion that this 1s necessary in the public
interest to avoid unreasonable competi-
tive disadvéantage and prejudicial effect
on existing and potential television
broadcast service apply equally” to non-
microwave CATV systems (notice, par.
27), there is likewise a sufficlent stand-
ard for judgment here. Finally, our
action with respect to the paragraph 50
proposal is similarly dictated by the
“publi¢ interest in the larger and more
effective use of radio” (sec.303(g)).

22. Most of the comments agree that,
apart from the basis for jurisdiction,
there is no significant difference between
microwave and nonmicrowave systems.
However, National Community Televi-
sfon Association, Inc. (NCTA), asserts
that there is no basis for assuming they
are alike. It points to no factual dis-
tinction. Rather, NCTA renews its con~
tentions in Docket Nos. 14895 and 15233
that no adeyuate fact-finding inquiry has
been conducted, and claims further that
adverse impact has not been established
and cannot support an assertion of juris-
diction. In this connection, NCTA has
appended to its comments the material
it submitted before the House Subcom-
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mittee in hearings on H.R. 7715, It
urges particularly that the 15 days before
and after nonduplication period is un-
justified, and has no reasonable relation-
ship to the showing of nonnetwork pro-
graming. NCTA's staff has undertaken
a study to test the validity of the Com-
mission’s sample week network study
(first report, pars. 104-109), and has
found that the data developed by the
Commission supports its conclusion that
delayed programing occurs most fre-
quently among affiliates in the mountain
tline zone, and there in one and two sta-
tion markets. NCTA ololms that its.
{P. 4.’5#}

study of 33 mountain time zone stations
with CATV penetration shows no adverse
consequences (NCTA comments, Ex-
hibit A). It points in addition to spe-
cine examples of small market stations
which have allegedly increased circula-
tion and maintained the same or a higher
snetwork hourly rate since 1960, despite
substantial CATV penctration of thelr
service areas (NCTA comments, Exhibits
Aand B),

23. While the inferences NCTA draws
from its studies are sharply criticlzed
in the reply comments of Association of
Maximum Service Telecasters (AMST),
we do not think it necessary or useful
to set forth the contentions of each or
to discuss their dispute as to individual
situations. The NCTA appendices do not
differentiate between microwave and
nonmicrowave CATV systems; on thelr
face they constitute an attack on the
validity the first report and order in
Docket Nos. 14895 and 15233. But the
supplementary material upon which
NCTA now relies as indicating a lack of
past impact is similar in nature to the
showing there considered at length and
would not in itself warrant reversal of
our conclusions” Indeed, NCTA, in
relying upon its showing, simply ignores
the two most important grounds of our
decision, namely, (1) the fair competition
ground and i) the economic impact
ground, based on the CATV trend in re-
cent years. Since this is so, it may be
well to restate those grounds briefly, and
to take account of current information
pertinent to those grounds. )

24, In the first report and order in
Docket Nos. 14895 and 15233, we con-
cluded that CATV serves the public in-

“WWe have decided, for the reasons set
forth in paragraphs 47-85 below, to delete
the proviston for nonduplication 16 days be-
fore and after the local broadcast and to
subatitute a reguirement for nonduplication
only on the same day as_ the local broad-
cast. ‘Thus, our resolution of this matter
affords NCTA substantially the rellef it has
requested. .
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terest when it provides program choices
not locally available off-the-air and acts
as & supplement rather than a substitute
for off-the-nir television service, explain-
ing our principal reasons as follows
(par.44)

¢ ¢ ¢ Because of the prohibitive cost of
extending the cables beyond heavily bullt.
up arens, CATV systems cannot gerve many
persons reached by television broadcast sig-
nals, Persons unable to obtaln CATV serv-
ice, and those who cannot afford it or who
are unwilling to pay, are entirely dependent
upon local or nearby stations for thelr tele-
viston service. The Commission's statutory
obligation is to make television service avall-
able, so far as possible, to all people of tho
United States on a ' 'r, eMclent, and equi-
table basis (secs, 1 and 307(b)) of the Com-
munications Act. This obligation is not met
by primary reliance on a service which, tech-
nically, cannot be made available to 'many
people and which, pract'cally, will not be
available to many others. Nor would it he
compnatible with our responsibilities to per-
mit persons willing and able to pay for ad-
ditional service to obtain it at the cxpense
of those dependent on the growth of tele-
vision broadcast facliities for an adequate
cholce of services, ‘

25. Our determination to adopt the
carriage and nonduplication require-
ments rested on two. basic grounds: (1)
That fallure to carry local stations and
duplication of their programs are unfair
competitive practices, which are incon-
sistent with the supplementary role of
CATV (pars. 49-57, 76), and (2) that
these requirements were necessary to
ameliorate the risk that the burgeoning
CATYV industry would have a future ad-
verse impact on television broadcast
service, both existing and potential (pars.
58-75,1TN.

26. With respect to the first ground,
we found that the CATV system which
fails to carry the local station on its
system has in practical eftect cut off the
station from access to CATV subscrib-
ers (par. 51). We stated (par. 57):

As a competitive practice, the fallure or

refusal by a CATV system to carry the signal
of a local station is plainly inconsistent with

 our beltef that CATV service should supple-

ment, but not replace, off-the-air television
cervice. The cable system that follows such
a practice offers the subscriber the benefits
of additional televisiog service at the price
of blocking or Impeding his access to avail-
able off-the-air signals. * ¢ *

Because it 18 inconslstent with the concept _
of CATYV as a supplementary service, because
we consider It an unreasonable restriction
upon the local atatlon’s ability to compete,
and because it {8 patently destructive of the
goals we seek in allocating television chan-
nels to different areas and communities, we
believe that a CATV system's failure to carry
the signal of a local station is inherently
contrary to the public Interest.- Only if we
were persuaded that the overall impact of
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CATV competition upon broadcasting would
be entirely negligible would we consider
countenancing such a practice.

27. We further pointed out that CATV,
though distributing the programs of the
television broadcasi service, stands out-
side its normal program distribution
process and fails to recognize the reason-
able exclusivity for which the local sta-
tions have bargained in the program
market when it duplicates local program-
ing via the signals of distant stations
(pars. 52-56). We summarized our con-
clusion that this was unfair and incon-
sistent with CATV’s supplementary role
as follows (par. 57): :

In light of the unequal footing on which
broudcasters and CATV systems now stand
with respect to the market for program prod-
uct, we cannot regard a CATV system's du-
plication of local programing via the signals
of distant atations as a fair method of com-
petition. We do not regard the patterns of
exclusivity created in the existing system for
the distribution of television programs as
sacrosanct. We think it apparent, however,
that the creation of a reasonable measure of
exclusivity Is an entirely appropriate and
proper way for program suppliers to protect
the value of their product and for stations
to protect their investment In programs.
We think the baslc congressional judgment
underlying section 326(a) limitation on re-
broadcasting is the same.

Nor do we consider the duplication of ex-
isting off-the-air service to be consistent with
CATV's appropriate role as a supplementary
service. Whatever the ultimate impact of
CATV competition upon the revenues and
operation of competing atations, duplication
is highly likely to affect the audience for
the apecific programs involved. And it
does so without generally offering the public
& substantlally different service. We be-
lieve that a service such as CATV, which lives
on the product of the existing television serv-
ice, should at a minimum glve some measure
of recognition to the fundamental distribu-
tion practices which have developed in the
parent industry's competitive program mar-
ket—to exhibition rights. for which others
must bargain and pay but which it has thus
far been able to use without any bargaining
by itself or by the stations whose signals it
carrles, Once again, unless we were con-
vinced that the impact of CATV compeatition
upon broadcasting service would be negli-
glble, we would favor some restrictions upon
the ability of CATV systems to duplicate the
programs of local broadcasting systems, as a
partial equalization of the conditions under
which CATV and broadcasting service com-
pete. (Footnotes omitted.)

28. We stated that the foregoing
grounds* were “‘enough to justify regula-
tory action” (par. 58) .and that “every
station affected is entitled to appropriate
carriage and nonduplication benefits—
irrespective of the specific damage which
any individual CATV system may do to
the financial health of the individual

" vision broadcast development.

"2

station" (par. 76). But, as stated, w
also turned to another ground based o1
the economic impact of CATV upon tele
We con
sidered at some length the data an
arguments before us on the question ¢
impact (pars. 58-715), finding—as #
1959—that it s “impossible, with th
data at hand, to isolate reliably the
effects of CATV competition from all o
the other factors which operate to pro-
duce particular financial results in dif-
fering settings” (par. 68). However
taking account of nationwide trend:
affecting the nature of CATV offerings
the character of the markets entercd
and the degree of penetration achieved.
we also found it plain that CATV coulc
have a substantial negative effect upor
station revenues and audiences ever

_though we lack the tools to measure

precisely the degree of impact (pars.
65-69). We further found reason to be-
lieve that the fmpact was likely to be
“more serious in the future than it has
been in the past” (par. 69), and stressed
our concern with the effect of explosive
CATV growth in a critical period for
UHF development (pars. 71-72). In
sum, the Commission’s judgment on this
ground was based very largely, not upon
the past, but upon the trends which
were already evident and whose dimen-
slons called for action now to assure the
public interest in the future.

29. The additional showing made in
the appendices to the NCTA comments
is not directed to the above crucial con-
siderations concerning the trends in the
CATV or UHF flelds. Instead, it focuses
ubon certain situations whieh, it claims,
establish that CATV has no adverse im-
pact upon television broadcasting. But
each of its examples is sharply disputed
by AMST, which points to significant im-
pact in some cases or sets forth other
factors for the improvement in the situ-
ation of the television station in the face
of CATV competition. For example,
AMST notes that several stations whose
network hourly rate has not declined
since 1960 were already at or near the
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minimum rate for the network {nvolved
(AMST reply comments, pp. 27-28, at-
tachment A, pp. 10-14). It attributes
whatever success Station WLUC-TV,
Marquette, Mich., has enjoyed in recent
years to new management beginning in
1960 and states that the station has suf-
fered a decline {n average quarterly hour
audience while local revenues have re-
mained stagnant (AMST reply com-
ments, pp. 29-30, attachment A, p. 14).
AMST also points out that WBOC-TV,.
Salisbury, Md., following a change in
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ownership in 1961 and the infusion of a
substantial financial {nvestment, ex-
tended its hours of operation, improved
its programing, and doubled its service
area through a substantial power in-
crease. (AMST reply comments, bp.
31-32, attachment A, pp. 15-16.)

30. It would, we think, serve no useful
purpose to delve into each of those situ-
ations. For even assuming that it were
possible to isolate the significance of
CATYV in each situation from other fac-
tors (as it was feasible in the Carter
Mountain case, first report, par. 64), it
would not afford greater insight into the
crucial aspect of the matter—the explo-
sive growth and changing character of
CATYV and its possible impact upon tele-
vision broadcasting in the future. And,
as to that aspect, events since the jssu-
ance of the first report reinforce the
judgment made by us upon the basis of
the above-mentioned trends In the in-
dustry. For, as the comments in this
proceeding show, without dispute in this
respect, the trends described in para-
graph 65 of the first report have become
even more pronounced. We shall briefly
review those trends in light of their
importance to our judgment.

31, In the first report we relied on
estimates in the Seiden Report which
were based on data compiled in 1964.*
The Seiden Report stated (p. 2) that
there were approximately 1300 CATV
systems serving approximately 1.2 mil-
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lion TV homes. The reply comments of
AMST, filed on September 17, 1965, con-
tain the following estimates as of mid-
1965 (AMST reply comments, attach-
ment A, prepared by Economic Associ-
ates, Inc., of Washington, D.C., using
data from Television Factbook (No. 35)
and Television Digest) :

Communities with operating CATV's._ 1, 847
Communities with CATV’s franchised

(but not yet operating). . _....._.. 768
Communities with CATV applications
pending - mecmenccccaacnaa 938

While these figures are not tendered as
precisely accurate,”® the rapidly accel-
erating rate of growth is confirmed in
statistics given by licensees commenting
on the situation within thelr service
areas,' in the trade press, and in letters
recelved by the Commission from local
franchising authorities and other mem-
bers of the public.

32. In addition, the channel capacity
of CATV systems 15 increasing. Accord-
ing to the Seiden Report (pp. 2, 54) the
usual CATV system in 1964 delivered
five signals and 856 percent of all systems
delivered between three and seven sig-
nals. However, there is indication in the
record that most of the new CATV sys-
tems have a channel capacity of 12 chan-
nels and many of the older systems are
expanding their original capacity. The
AMST reply comments (attachment A)
contain the following table showing the
cable capacity for tlie 763 CATV systems
for which it was able to obtain data:"

CATV's Caracity, in NUMBER of CHANNELS (INcLUDES FM) ¢
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t Includes expansions subseq
the original capacity of most of theso systeins,

“This estimate was based on comments
filed in Docket Nos, 14898 and 156233 and the
report submitted to us by Dr. Martin H. Sel-
den, entitled “An Economic Analysis of Com-
munity Antenna Television S8ystems and the
Television Broadcasting Industry” (GQPO,
February 1965), hereafter referred to as the
“Seiden Report.”

" There are other estimates (see par. 116,
describlng the Televislon Digest estimate),

ttostarting date, Limitations of the source data make it impossible todctermine

but whatever the estimate, CATV growth is
clearly explosive in nature,

WE.g., comments of Midwest Television,
Inc.; West Central Broadcasting Co.; WKBH
Television, Inc.; Moblle Video Tapes, Inc.;
and Bonneville International Corp.

" The data were compiled from reports in
Television Factbook (No. 35) Television DI-
gest, questionnaires on file at the Commis-
slon, and’ARB publications, :
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The expanding channel capacity is also
reflected In the answers submitted to
our questionnaire sent to all known
CATV systems in connection with the
transition period question. . (See par.
103-107, within),

33. It further appears that CATV ac-
tivity is accelerating in areas where ttere
is the greatest interest in UHF develop-
ment. The comments of AMST list all
communities or metropolitan areas
where UHF staticns were operating, au-
thorized or applied for as of July 8, 1965,
and indicate the extent of co-located
CATV activity (AMST comments, at-
tachment C, table 2)."® The results are
summarized by AMST as follows (com-
ments, p. 59)

There are 237 UHF stations and 93 educa-
tional stations elther operating or with
outstanding construction permits or for

* which applications are pending in communi-
ties or metropolitan areas with a total popu-
lation of over 112,000,000. The citles and
metropolitan areas with CATV systems oper-
ating, pending or applled for account for at
least 85,000,000 people. At least 145 com-
munities or standard metropolitan areas
with UHF stations operating, authorized or
applied for also have CATV activity. In 68
such communities or metropolitan areas
where there are already operating CATV sys-
tems; at least 67 have CATV systems fran-
chised but not operating, and at least 083
have CATV applications proposed.

34. The situation in central Illinois is
described by Midwest Television, Inc.
(Midwest), licensee of VHF Station
WCIA, Champaign, Iil.; UHF Station
WMBC-TV, Peoria, Ill.;.and applicant
for a new UHF station in Springfield,
1" Midwest states that CATV is in
process of growth in virtually all of the
major communities served by WCIA, in-
cluding Champaign and Urbana them-
selves.,” Franchise applications have
been filed or proposed in at least 12 com-
munities within the WCIA Grade B serv-
ice area, and CATV systems are operat-
ing, under constructfon, or franchised in

‘some 15 more. These 27 cominunities
have a total population of 464,500—
nearly one-half of the total population
within- WCIA's Grade B service area.
Within the Grade B service areas of
WMBD-TV, Peoria and of W71AE, Mid-
west's La Salle translator, CATV is at

18 According to AMST, table 2 is limited to
the central communities or- metropolitan
areas where there is UHF activity, and does
not include CATV activity elsewhere within
the service area of a station located in the
community or metropolitan area.

" Midwest is also the licensee of KFMB,
8an Dlego, Calif.

 Champaign has one VHF and one UHPF
station, and is also the location of a UHF
translator of & Decatur UHF station.

"lists
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various stages—from franchise proposals
to actual operation—in at least five com-
munities, including Peoria itself (which
has three operating UHPF stations and a
vacant’' UHF commercial assignment),
The total urban population of these flve
communities is 221,294—between one-
third and one-half of the total popula-
tion in the Grade B service areas of
WMBD-TV and the La Salle translator.
In Springfleld (which has one operating
UHF station and applications pending
for two new UHF stations), applications
for CATV franchises are under active
consideration in Springfield and another
community located in the Grade B con-
tour of both proposed UHF stations. The
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total urban population of these two
cities is 92,072-——approximately one-half
of the total population within the Grade
B contour of Midwest’'s proposed new
UHF station. Midwest states that the
proposals for CATV in Springfleld,
Peorla, Champaign, and Urbana have all
been announced since April 23, 1965, and
that at least eight new CATV operators
filed applications for local franchises in
central Illinols during the first two weeks
of July.

35. A description of CATV growth in
the Rio Grande Valley of Texas is given
by Mobile Video Tapes, Inc., the licensee
of KRVG-TV in Waeslaco-Harlingen,
Tex. According to Mobile Video Tapes,
Weslaco has a 1960 Census population of
15,649 and the population of the Harlin-
gen-San Benito urbanized ares is 61,658.
It states that J. Walter Thompson Co.
(Population and Its Distribution, the
United States Markets, 8th ed., 1961),
thc DBrownsville-Harlingen-San
Benito market (which includes Weslaco)
as a Class C market, the 143d market in
the United States, with a population of
only 151,098. The ARB total net weekly
circulation of KRGV, as of March 1864,
was only 75,100 homes. CATV fran-
chises have been granted in five towns™
within its service area and other CATV
systems are proposed. The communi-
ties with CATV franchises, their popu-
lations, and the grade of KRVQG coverage
?re given by Mobile Video Tapes as fol-
owWS: .

Community 1960 Census |© KRQV
' .o population coverage
Brownsville............. 48,040 | Grade A.
dinburg. ..coocunannn.s 18,708 | City'Grade.
MecAllen ....ooocnnen..... 32,728 | Orade A.
Mission........ c.ooeaee 14,081 | Grade B.
11§ SO 14,108 | City Grade.

Mobile Video Tapes points out that this
“constitutes the heart of the market—
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84.4 percent of the population shown by

J. Walter Thompson for the entire

Erownsvllle-Harllngen-San Benito mar-
et‘u

36. 1t appears, moreover, that there is
significant CATV activity in the vicinity
of fairly large cities with multiple chan-
nel assignments. The AMST comments
(attachment C, tables I A, B, and C) *
tabulate the CATV systems in operation,
franchised or applied for within the
Grade A and B contours of existing or
potential VHF and UHPF stations in 11
areas ‘‘belleved to be centers of con-
siderable CATV ‘activity’ ’: Bakersfleld
and Sacramento, Calif.; Orlando and St.
Petersburg, ¥Fla; Rockford, Ill.; Evans-
ville and Indianapolis, Ind.; Rochester
and Utica, N.Y.; and Columbus and Day-
ton, Ohlio. The extent of CATV penetra-
tion is detailed in Tables I A, B, and C.
All three give separate figures for Grade
A and Grade B contours, for VHF and
UHF respectively. Table YA shows the
penetration in terms of number of places
in which CATV {franchises have been
granted or applied for. Table IB gives
the equivalent data in terms of poten-
tial CATV households® compared with
the total number of households within
broadcast contours. Table IC converts
the data in IB to percentages of total
number of households within the broad-
cast contours.

37. The analysis shows that in these
eleven areas there are approximately 230
places in which a CATV system was op-
erating, franchised or propased (as of
July 8, 1965) within the Grade B con-
tours of existing or potential VHF and
UHF stations located in the central com-~
munity of each of the eleven markets.
These 230 places contain nearly 1,800,000
households. In Bakersfield, Calif., an all
UHPF market, almost two-thirds of the
potential UHF audience is already fran-
chised to CATV systems, In Utica, N.Y,,
the figure is 44 percent. If already sub-
mitted or proposed applications result in
franchises, a UHF station in Columbus,
Ohfo, would have CATV’'s potentially
competing for 60 percent of its market
and a VHF station for more than half.
Existing and pending CATV's in the In-
dianapolis area Involve half the VHF
market and about three-fifths of the
UHF market. In Sacramento, the CATV
potential comes to over 40 percent of
the UHF market and nearly half the
VHP.

1 Corrections to these tables were supplied
in an “"Addendum’ to the AMST comments
submitted on August 13, 1065,

2 The tables use potential, rather than
actual audlence; 1.e., the total number of
households within the broadcast contour,
and the total number of households in the
community of the CATV.
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38. There is also widespread CATV
activity within major cities. Our atten-
tion has been called to the asserted intent
of CATV interests to wire up “almost
all American citles—small and large”
and 85 percent of all television sets—40
million homes.® The December 1966 is-
sue of Television Magazine (vol. 22, No.
12) states that franchise applications
have been filed in San Francisco, Seattle,
Pittsburgh, Baltimore, Fresno, Colum--.
bus, Tucson, Birmingham, Providence,
and Sacramento, Two of the com-
menting parties in this proceeding are
applicants for CATV franchises in Phila-
delphia. The comments of Columbia
Broadcasting System (CBS) refer to ap-
plications for CATV franchises in Albany
and Syracuse, N.Y.; Galveston, Tex.; and
the grant of a CATV franchise in Wil-
mington, Del. D. H. Overmyer, permit-
tee of new UHF Station WDHO-TV in
Toledo, Ohio, comments that local au-
thorities have granted a CATV franchise
for that city since the issuance of the
Joint notice herein. Toledo has two VHF
stations, a. UHF educational station,
and—according to Storer Broadcasting
Co., receives the signals of four Detroit-
windsor VHF stations, off-the-air and
without reception difficulty. Telerama,
Inc., an applicant for a CATV franchise
in Cleveland, has filed comments de-
scribing its proposed cable operation for
that city which has three VHF §ta-
tions, a UHF educational station, and
applications pending for two new UHF
facilities,” Tait Broadcasting Co., in
a June 1965 petition to deny a micro-
wave application (File No. 6226-C1-P-
65) to bring the three New York inde-
pendent stations to CATV systems in the
Wilkes-Barre-Scranton area of Pennsyl-
vania, states that in the last 6 months 80
franchise applications have been filed in
54 communities in Lackawanna and Lu-
zerne Counties. The Scranton-Wilkes-
Barre area is served by three UHF sta-

2 Address by Milton J. Schapp, “"CATV—
Past, Present, Future,” Dec. 8, 19684, reprinted
in Television Digest Special Supplement, vol.
4, No. 50, Dec. 14,1964, p. 1.

# Telerama plans to carry all local stations

"and two Canadian stations on a full-time

basis and to carry on a part-time basis on
the remaining channels the signals of net-
work aifillated stations in Detroit, Toledo,
Erie (Fa.). and Youngstown and AXron,
Ohlo. While it does not propose to acquire
microwave facllities to bring in Chicago and
New York independent stations, Telerama
states that if these signals are made avail-
able to the Cleveland area by common car-
rier facflities, "then Telerama may avail it-
self of zhe accessibility to such signals.”
8ince Telerama submitted its comments,
Cleveland has granted a franchise to. Tele-
rama,
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tions, providing three full network
services.

39. 'The most factually detailed com-
ments on big-city CATV were submitted
by Midwest Television, Inc., licensee of

Station KFMB-TV in San Diego, Calif.

According to Midwest, CATV is growing
with great speed in San Diego area,
which is presently served by three VHF
stationg providing the programs of all
three networks.” In addition, construc-
tion permits are outstanding for two new
commercial UHF stations in San Diego
and an application is pending for a UKF
educational station. Since March 1963,
when the first CATV system in the area
was franchised, seven additional systems
have been franchised. All eight CATV
systems are within the Grade A contour
of KFMB-TV, which falls within the
metropolitan San Diego area; four are
located in San Diego itself. While four
of the eight systems are not yet opera-
tive, two of these are expected to begin
operations momentarily. The operating
CATYV systems, which do not use micro-
wave, carry the signals of all seven Los
Angeles commercial VHF stations and
carry the local stations without affording
nonduplication protection. Midwest has
been unable to obtain the current sub-
scriber count, estimated at approximate-
ly 10,000 homes in February 1865.® How-
ever, its engineering personnel recently
counted drops in a part of San Diego
where CATV had been available for only
3 months. Of the 169 homes in that
area, 58 were wired for CATV-—and this,
Midwest points out, “is an area where
all three stations can be satisfactorily
recelved” (Midwest comments, p. 24).

40. The Midwest comments also de-
scribe what it considers to be the effect
CATYV operations of this nature have on
the audience of the local network-affili-
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ated stations. . Southwest - Surveys, an
independent research organization, con-
ducted a survey for Midwest in June 19865,
interviewing 300 CATV subscribers and
300 nonsubscribers in the San Diego area.
Forty-three percent of the CATV sub-
scribers had been subscribers for less
than 3 months. Midwest states (com-
ments, p. 9) that during the prime eve-
ning hours of 7:30 p.m. to 11 p.m., when

.. most of the programs broadcast by the

3 Midwest’s Station KFMB-TV is a OBS
aMiiate, KOGO (8an Dilego) is an NBC afill~
ate, and the third station, XETV (located in
Tijuana, Mexico, just a' few miles from San
Diego), I8 an ABC afliliate.

™ San Dlego Telecasters, Inc., permittes of
UHF Station KAAR-TV in San Diego, esti-
mated as of Aug. 35, 1965, that there are
“more than 15,000 sets now served by cable.”

2"

three San Diego area stations were net

work programs, the San Diego area sta

tions accounted for 88 percent and 9’
percent of the total viewing time of non.
CATYV subscribers interviewed in two aif.
ferent areas and only 62 percent amon

cable subscribers. During the hour from
9 pm. to 10 p.m, Surday through
Wednesday when each program broad-
cast by each of the San Diego area sta-
tions was simultaneously duplicated or
CATYV by Los Angeles stations, 93 percent
of the nonsubscribers saw them on loca.
stations whereas only 77 percent of the
cable subscribers did so (pp. 9-10)., O

the cable subscribers, 49 percent reportec
that they viewed a -San Diego channe
most; 55 percent named a Los Angeles
channel. Of the nonsubscribers in two
separate areas, San Diego stations were
named by 108 percent and 94 percent,
respectively, while Los Angeles stations
were named by only 5 percent and 11 per-
cent (id., p. 25) .7

41. With respect to nonnetwork view-
ers, Midwest states that 25 percent of the
CATV subscribers named a Los Angeles
independent station as the channel they
viewed most and only 1 percent and 2
percent, respectively, of the two groups of
nonsubscribers did so. More than 56
percent of thc CATV subscribers (as
compared to 11 percent of the nonsub-
scribers) named at least one Los Angeles
independent as one of the three stations
most viewed «d., p. 26). During the
period 5 p.m. to 6 p.m., Monday through
Friday, there was no duplication by any
Los Angeles station of programs broad-
cast in San Diego and the cable sub-
scriber could watch any 1 of 10 differ-
ent programs. Among nonsubscribers
interviewed, 95 percent of those who
watched television during that hour
watched one of the San Diego stations.
Among cable subscribers the Los Angles
stations accounted for 52 percent and the
San Dilego stations 48 percent (id., pp.
26-27).

42. Moreover, appended to the com-
ments of Columbla Broadcasting System _
(CBS), which is opposed to an assertion
of jurisdiction, is a further study of
CATYV prepared by its Office of Economie
Analysis. The CBS study.points out that
there s a time span lag before CATV im-
pact is felt (CBS comments, Exhibit A,
p. 27). This is partly because CATV
penetration does not occur all at once;
growth is gradual. But CBS also states
that networks react slowly to changes in
station audlences and that it might take
3 to 5 years for a change in an affillate’s
audience to be reflected tully in the rela-

7 Percentages total more than 109 pe-x;ant
because some multiple answers were given.
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tive network rate. National spot reve-
nues and local advertlsing, while reacting
more quickly, would still take a consider-
able time. The study concludes (p. 31)
that the ‘“‘true reasons for the-modest
impact of CATV thus far are the rela-
tively small amount of penetration that
CATV's generally have in any particular
market and the considerable length of
time necessary for the effects of CATV
to work themselves out.” ®

43. Like the Seiden Report, the CBS
study bases its discussion of CATV po-
tential and impact on CATYV systems op-
erating or franchised as of August 1964.
It concludes, therefore, that CATV po-
tential is limited to communities more
than 40 miles from three stations provid-
ing the service of the three networks
(plus some metropolitan ares apartment
house dwellers), an estimated 6 to 8
million TV homes. However, the study
recognizes (p. 14) that CATV “systems
are clearly moving closer to transmitting
points” and states further (pp. 16-17):

There 18 a final caveat that must be made
at this point. There has been in the very
recent past, and not included in the systems
in our study, a group of applications for
CATV systems in communities with three
more-than-adequate network services which
do not appear to be related .to apartment
house reception problems. Thus, applica-
tions for franchises have been made in places
iike Albany, Syracuise, Galveston,.Phlladel-
phia, and Cleveland, and a franchise has just
been granted in Wilmington, Del * * ¢
While these do provide alternative program-
ing, we do not know as yet whether this
added factor will be sufficient to make the
systems viable. If these systems are estab-
lished and thrive, it'is clear that the poten-
tial for community antenna systems far ex-
ceeds anything that we have talked about
thus far and, in fact, much of the country
could ultimately become CATV territory.

44. In view of the rapidly changing
circumstances outlined above, we can see
no point in conducting a further fact-~
finding Inquiry with respect to nonmicro-
wave CATYV as it has existed in the past,
The extensive studies conducted by Dr.
Fisher, Dr. Seiden and NCTA in conjung-.
tion with Docket Nos. 14895 and 15233\®

® AMBT argues that this time lag 1s not as
great as UBS asserts. It states (reply com-
ments, p. 22) : “However long before an af-
fillate’s network rate card is affected, ad-
vertisers will inevitably drop from network
orders those stations which show serious
audience losses, whether from CATV or any
other cause. That this is the likely sequence
is demonstrated by the parallel situation—
network radlo, which felt the impact of tele-
vision by sharp decreases in statlon orders
long before those etations’ network rates were
affected.”

* GBee, e.g., pars. 20 and 32 of the first report
and order in Docket Nos. 14805 and 15233,
and p. 49 of the Ssiden Report.
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and further studies. of CBS and AMST
in this proceeding, all concerned non-
microwave as well as microwave CATV
systems, Studies of this nature are out-
of-date almost before we have had time
to consider them. Moreover, they are of
limited value since they cannot measure

‘some of the most important factors we

are bound to consider. These include
the cumulative future effect of greater
penetration by CATV systems tranchised
or applied for but not yet in operation,
the degree of success to be achteved by
CATYV systems in big cities or other well-
served areas, and the effect of the bur-
geoning CATV activity—if left unregu-
lated—on the decisions of potential ap-
plicants and existing licensees as- to
whgﬂther to inaugurate or improve serv-
ice.’ :

46. What we said in the first report
and order i{n rejecting NCTA's argument
that regulatory action should not be
taken in the absence of a showing that
stations have ceased operation, or are’
about to cease operation, applies with
equal force to its renewal of that argu--
ment here." We stated (par. 77):

®The CBS study further asserts (pp. 27~
80) that the effects of a rise in CATV pene-*
tratlon with its depressing effect on station
revenues are offset in large degree by the
persistent rise in advertising demand for
television time. However, a3 AMST points
out, the number of stations sharing the ad-
vertising demand is also increasing as new
UHP stations stimulated by the all-channel
law commence operations. Moreover, annual
broadcast expenses are on the average in-
oreasing apace with revenues,

% 'While the distant signal procedure
adopted in Part II will probably have some
effect on the trends we have been here dis-
cussing, we think that application of the
carriage and nonduplication requirements to
all systems is still required in the public in-
terest. First not only wiil this end the pres-
ent unwarr' ited discrimination between the

alcrowave and nonmicrowave systerg, but
it 18 called for on the basls of the fair com-
petition pround, discussed in pars. 26-27.
Second, ss to the economic impact ground
we note that in view of recent growth, there
are a very substantial number of CATV sys-
tems operating on the date of release of this
report with the capacity to keep growing to
perhaps 50-70 percent of the television homes
in their communities, and thus to have a
cumulative effect in areas such as those
noted In the prior discussion (eg., pars.
85-37). New systems will continue to come
into operation under the interim procedure,
and it may be important shat the cumulative
effect of such systems, after growth to signifi-
cant figures, be amellorated to some extent
by the carriage and nonduplication requige-
ment. Most Important, the distant signal
procedure is of interlm nature, subject to

-discontinuation or revision. See par. 160,

The carriage and nonduplication rules which
we adopt here are not interim—they are our
best judgment of what the public interest
calls for over an indefinite period.
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NCTA’s argument that CATV has not yet
caused any wldespread demise of existing
statlons misses the point. As we have
pointed out above, it would be clearly con-
trary to the public interest to defer action
until a serlous loss of existing and potential
service had already occurred, or until exist-
ing service had been significantly impalred.
Corrective action after the damage has al-
ready been done, if not too late, {8 certainly
much more difficult. Further, it is difficult,
if not impossible, to attempt to delineate
with any precision a factor such as discour-
agement of entry of potential broadcasters
because of CATV competition. In short, we
must plan now for the healthy co-existence
of CATV and local stations and safeguard

the public from future injury. Circum- .

stances have changed since our 1959 report
and order, and the likelihood or probability
of adverse impact upon potential and exist-
ing service has become too substantial to be
dismissed. If studies are in confiict and pre-
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sent a ciose question as to the precise extent
.0f the impact, it I8 not close as to how
this uncertainty should be resolved. This is
one of those situations in which the public
interest requires that conditions conduclve
to the sound future of television “he assured
rather than left uncertain,” United Htntes
v. Detrolt Navigation Co,, 326 U.8. 230, 241,
This Is particularly so, where we have two
modes of service, one of which {g almost com-
pletely dependent on the other for its prod-
uct. In such circumstances uncertainties
should be resolved in favor of ensuring the
het:rl‘thy growth and maintenance of the basic
service.

N

46. In sum, we have concluded in the °

first report and order in Docket Nos.
14895 and 15233 that the public interest
requires that CATV systems carry local
stations without duplication for a rea-
sonable period, in order to avoid unfair
competitive disadvantage to and préju-~
dicial effect on existing and potential
broadcast service. We have concluded
herein that we have authority under the
present provisions of the Communica-
tions Act to extend these requirements
to nonmicrowave systems, In view of the
rapid surge in CATV growth since this
proceeding was initiated, we think that
our statutory obligations require us to
act now in the areas we have proposed.
This will end the present unwarranted
distinction between microwave and non-
microwave systems, and will enable us to
make the rules effective before operations
are commenced by a large number of
CATV proposals presently in the fran-
chise or application stage.

C. SUBSTANTIVE PROVISIONS OF THE
RuLes

41. CATV systems, as we recognize in
the first report (pars. 43, 48) and here
agaln emphasize, have arisen in résponse
to public need and demand for improved
television gervice and perform valuable
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public services in this respect. CATV
(like othzr auxiliary television services)
makes possible the provision of a variety
of program cholices, particularly the
three full network services, to many per-
sons in areas with no local station and
in one and two station markets. CATV
systems also afford a means of provid-
ing nonnetwork commercial and edu-
cational services to many persons in
areas with insufficent population to sup-
port local broadcast outlets of this na-
ture. CATV systems make important
contributions by providing good quality
reception of color signals and improving
reception of local signals in areas within
the predicted contours of local stations
where off-the-air reception is inferior or
precluded because of terrain, man-made
structures or other factors. We do not
intend to deprive the public of these im-
portant benefits or to restrict the en-
riched programing selection which
CATV makes avallable, Rather, our
goal here is to integrate the CATV serv-
ice into the national television structure
in such a way as to promote maximum
television service to all people of the
United Status (seos. 1 and 303(g) of the
Act), both those who are cable viewers
and those dependent on off-the-air serv-
ice. The new rules discussed below are

the minimum measures we believe to be
essential to insure that CATV continues
to perform its valuable supplementary
role without unduly damaging or im-
peding the growth of television broad-
cast service,

48, To insure effective integration of
CATYV within a fully developed television
service, the new regulations will apply
equally to all CATV systems, including

“those which require microwave licenses
and those which receive their signals off
the air* We have carefully reexamined
the CATV rules currently in effect for
microwave-fed systems, and have made
some changes. The microwave rules will
be revised to reflect the new rules adopted
for all systems.

49. In brief, under the new rules, a
CATYV system will be required, upon re-
quest and within the limits of its channel
capacity, to carry without material
degradation the signals of all local tele-
vision stations within whose Grade B
contours the CATV system is located, in
order of priority of signal grade. A
CATV system will be required, upon re-
quest, to avold duplication of the pro-
-grams of local television stations carried
on the system during the same day that
such programs are broadcast by the local
stations. This_nonduplication protec-

2 Excluded from these rules will be those
CATYV systems which serve less than 50 sub-

scribers, or which serve only as an apar-
ment house master antenna.
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tion, as under the exlsting rules, will
apply to “prime time" network programs
(e, presented by the network between
6 and 11 pm., e.t.) only if such pro-
grams are presented by the Jocal station
entirely within what is locally considered
to be “prime time.” Nonduplication
protection will not be afforded to pro-
grams which are carried in black and
white by the local station and are availe
able in color from a more distant station
on the CATV system. AdQ hoc consider-
ation will be given to petitions from local
television stations seeking a greater de-
gree of protection than provided by the
rules, or from CATV operators seeking a
walver of the rules, and we are adopting
procedures to facllitate such petitions.
- Moreover, the Commission will continue
“to give full effect to private agreements
between CATV operators and local tele-
vision stations which provide for a dif-
ferent type or degree of protection for
the local station than do the Commis-
sion’s rules.®
50. Thus, the carriage requirements
made applicable to all CATV systems
will be substantially the same as those
applied to microwave-served systems by
the Commission’s first report, except in
certain minor respects discussed in para-
graphs 74 and 83 below. However, the
new nonduplication rules embody two
substantial changes from those adopted
in the first report. First, the time period
during which nonduplication protection
. must be afforded has been reduced from
15 days before and after local broadcast
to the single day of the local broadcast.
Second, a new exemption from the non-
duplication requirement has been added
as to color programs not carried in color
by local stations. We shall discuss the.
nonduplication changes first because
they are of a major nature.

. 1. The Nonduplication Provisions

51. Modification of the nonduplication
period: Nonduplication at the same time
that a local broadcast is being carried
on the cable is clearly called for in the
public interest for the reasons discussed
above and in the first report. Simul-
taneous nonduplication protects the bulk
of the popular network programing of
most network afliliates and does not af-
fect the time that such programing is
available to the CATV subscriber. In
the first report we further determined
that some measure of protection beyond
simultaneous nonduplication would also
serve the public interest on a number
IS

8 Private agreements will not avoid the
necessity for avidentiary hearing for the im-
portation of distant signals into the top 100
markets (Part IT, below), though such agree.
ments will be considered in our decision.’

"of grounds.
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We shall not repeat here
the reasons set forth in the first report
for that determination or for the fur- .
ther judgment that a 16-day before-and-
after the period was appropriate.

52. We have reconsidered the latter
judgment and have decided to strike a
different balance in light of the fact that
the rules are now being made applicable
to a large number of existing .systems and
will affect their existing service to the
CATV viewing public. The systems
which will now operate under the rules
for the first time constitute the great
bulk of the CATV industry. In addition
to all nonmicrowave systems, they in-
clude a sizable number of microwave
CATVs served pursuant to authoriza-
tions granted prior to December 1863
when the interim condition procedure
began, We recognize that the imposi-
tion of a 15-day before-and-after non-
duplication requirement on systems
which have not previously operated in
this manner would ~nd to substantially
disrupt the viewwig habits of the
CATV subscribers. As NCTA points out
(NCTA comments, Exhibit' B, pp. 35~
38), there is no question but that large
numbers of CATV subscribers have be-
come accustomed to viewing network
programs at the time they are presented
by the distant affiliates. Although 15-
day before-and-after nonduplication was
not required where timeliness was im-
portant, and all distant city programs
deleted under the rules would have been
avallable to the CATYV subscriber via
the local signal at some time within the
total 30-day period, the CATV viewer
might not be able to view it on the later
date of presentation by the local station
for ary number of personal reasons.

53. We believe it desirable to avoid
disruption to the established viewing
habits of the public as much as possible.
Moreover, we are seeking to preserve, to
the extent practicable, the valuable pub-
lic contribution of CATV in providing
wider access to nationwide programing
and a wider selection of programs on
any particular day. Balancing all the
pertinent considerations, we think that
the nonduplication period should be re-
duced to_the same day for existing sys-
tems. Not only will this enmlnate the

[P. 549]

great bulk of delayed nonduplication
requests (see par. 125, first report),
but it will insure that the program s
available to the CATV audience that
same day and, in the case of network
prime time program, that same evening.
While not wholly eliminating any possi-
ble change in viewing time on the perti-
nent day, this revision clearly minimizes



COPYRIGHT LAW

any disruptive effect on the CATV
viewer. As an incidental benefit, we
note that same-day-nonduplication will
substantially reduce the areas of possi-
ble. dispute between broadcasters and
CATVs in complying with the rules, and
to this extent will facilitate ease of
administration. - :

54. Application of a 18-day before and
after nonduplication provision to new
systems would not, of course, cause &
similar disruption to established viewing
habits, since the CATV subscriber would
from the beginning receive service in ac-
cordance with the rules. It would be
possible to “grandfather” existing sys-
tems on a same-day nonduplication basis
and make 15-day nonduplication effec-
tive only as to new systems. But there
are a number of countervailing argu-
ments. First, even in the case of the
new system, there is disruptive effect to
the extent that the CATV subscriber
may not be able to view programs from
distant stations at the times specified
in his TV gulde (and may be unable to
view them at the later date presented by
the local station for any number of
reasons). It is our understanding that
it 15 essentially for that reason that some
broadcasters, although previosuly en-
titled under our microwsve rules to 15-
day before and after aonduplication pro-
tection, have requested only simultane-
ous nonduplication. Second, it is ob-
viously preferable to have one set of rules
for all systems and thus -to avoid the
anomalous situation of millions of CATV
subscribers viewing under one set of rules
and other millions, often neighbors in
close-by communities, subjected to a dif-
ferent set. ‘Under the circumstances, we
think it better to provide by rule for.
same-day nonduplication for all systems,
and to safeguard the public interest in
the particular instance warranting dif-
ferent treatment pursuant to the ad hoc
ggfcedures discussed in paragraph 97

ow.

65. We also considered the question of
retaining the 15-day before-and-after
nonduplication provision for nonnetwork
programing. But, as we have previously
recognized, and indeed stress in this re-
port (pars, 123, 131 Infra), 15 days be-
fore and after nonduplication affords, at
best, only minimal protection with re-
spect to the presentation by local sta-
tions of syndicated and flim programing.
Such programing is not presented on a
nationwide simultaneous or-even nearly
simultaneous basis. . Retention of . the
15-day provision for nonnetwuvik pro-
grams alone would serve little effective
purpose. Stated differently, the adop-
tion of a uniform “same day" rule will
not, in our judgment, significantly affect
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the protection afforded as to nonnetwork
or independent programing. Rather, we
have determined that we must look else-
where if we are to achieve effective relief
in this respect. We treat the situation
of the independent station in Part II
below.?* As a general approach encom-
passing all stations, we are proposing to
the Congress that it consider the ques-
tion of extending the rebroadcast con-
cept of section 325(a) to CATV. It may
be that regulation of this nature would
prove a preferable and more effective
means of achieving fair recognition of
the exclusivity contracts of the program
markel place. Here again, we shall
consider requests seeking more extensive
protection of nonnetwork programing on
an ad hoc basis to insure that the public
interest is not prejudiced in the unusual
situation (although, as stated, we are
unaware of any instance where the 15-
day period afforded effective relief in this
respect). .

66, While conflicting considerations
are presented, we believe that our reso-
lution constitutes a fair compromise.
First, “same day” nonduplication is
clearly sufficient to take care of the time
zone differential problem; i.e., to pre-
clude a CATV system, which brings pro-
grams across either border of the moun-
tain time zone, from duplicating most,
if not all, of a local station's network
programs an hour or two before or after
they are presented locally. Moreover, it
will afford the station affiliated with
more than one network some leeway in
presenting what it regards as the most
attractive programs of each for the
benefit of the non-CATV audience (and
also, the CATV audience—see par. 1185,
first report) so long as such programs
are presented on the same day as the
network presentation and prime time
programs are broadcast entirely within
prime time hours.® This will, as stated,

HWith “same day" nonduplication afford-
ing substantial protection to the most popu-
lar network programing, most network affili-
ated stations should be viable.

3 In this connection, we note that the
amount of delayed network broadcasting in
the median one or two station markets is
about 5! and 11 hours per week, respec-
tively. See par. 108, first report. While this
amount 18 not insignificant and we recognize
that there will be some detriment to the
public if the local station in the median
market durtalls delayed broadcasts because
of the absence of nonduplication protection,
we point out that the amount of delayed
broadcasta is not of too large a nature in the
median market, and that we would not ex-
peéct the local Btation to cease all delayed
broadeasts in the absence of delayed non-
duplication protection. Moreaver, the pend-
ing Ilfberalization of our translator policies
may result. in greater avatlability of off-the-
afr service in one and two station markets,
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32

minimize any disruption to the CATV
subscribers. In addition, we will con-
sider requests by local stations and CATV
systems for different treatment on an ad
hoc basis, pursuant to the summary pro-
cedures discussed in paragraph 97, where
possible, or by evidentiary hearing if
necessary. Thus, the station which re-
ceives its network programming by mall,
or the station or system which faces
some other unusual problem, can bring
its situation to our attention for such
relief as may be appropriate in the in-
dividual circumstances and warranted
by the public interest. Similarly, the
CATV system can seek a walver of the
rules. We stress, in addition, that the
Commyjssion will continue to give full,
effect to private agreements between
CATYV operators and local television sta-
tions which provide for a different type
or degree of protection for the local sta-
tion than do the Commisston's rules.
‘We believe that the above resolution
fairly serves the public interest. If fur-
ther revisions are needed on the basis of
our experience with these new pro-
visions, we shall of course move
promptly to inplement such revisions.
57. Our decision to adopt “same day”’
nonduplication makes appropriate some
other revisions in the exclusivity sec-
tions of the rules. First, however, we
stress those provisions which remain un-
changed. We shall retain the provision
requiring the local station to present .
prime time network programing entirely
within prime time hours in order to be
entitled to nonduplication.® Thus, the
CATV system need not delete reception
of any network program which is sched-
uled by the network between the hours
of 6 and 11 p.m. et. but which is
" broadcast by the station requesting de-
letion, in whole or in part, outside of
the period which would normally be con-

% AMST has requested elimination of the
exception for prime time programs broadcast
outside of prime time hours. AMST urges
that this provision is unnecessary because
it is normally in the best interests of the
station to, carry prime time programs in
prime hours and the Commission has ample
power to remedy any abuse. It is further
asserted that there may be instances where
a statlon reasonably desires, and has net-
work consent, to carry such programs at
other hours. However, a prior CATV pres-
entation does not preclude the station from
repeating the program outside of prime time
if it has good reason to do so, and it is
unlikely that instances of this nature would
arise often enough to meke the loss of ex-
clusivity a significant problem. Since the
provision is designed to insure that CATV
subscribers have prime time programs con-
veniently available {n the hours of maximum
viewing, the public interest is best served
by ite retention.
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sldered prime time for the network pro-
graming in the time zone involved.
This will insure that such programs are
available to the CATV subscribers in
maximum viewing hours. We shall also °
retain the provision that the CATV sys-
tem need not delete reception of any
program as to which time of presenta-
tion is of special significance, such as a
speech or sporting event, except where
the program f{s being simultaneously
broadcast by the local station. And, al-
though it is of greatly reduced signifi-
cance for “same day” nonduplication,
we shall retain the provision that the
CATYV system need not delete reception
of a network program if, in so doing, it
would leave available for reception by
subscribers, at any time, less than the
programs of two networks (including
those broadcast by any stations whose
signals are being carried and whose pro-
gram exclusivity is being protected pur-
suant to the requirements of the rules).
68. However, there no longer appears
to be any real necessity for the provisos

[P. 4550}

to §§21.712(g), 74.1033(e), and 91.5569
(e); le., that: .

(1) The system is not required to
maintain the exclusivity of the network
programing of any such station if the
system carries the signal(s) of one or
more equal or higher priority stations
(other than a satellite or parent of the
station requesting exclusivity) which
substantially duplicates the network
programing of the station requesting ex-
clusivity; and

(2) The system is not required to
maintain the exclusivity of the nonnet-
work programing of any such station if
the system carries the signal(s) of one
or more equal or higher priority stations
(other than a satellite or parent of the
station requesting exclusivity) which op-
erates in what are normally and usually
considered other markets for purposes
of television program distribution.

These provisions were grounded in the
16-day before-and-after nonduplication
period which protected network pro-
grams delayed substantially beyond the
date of network presentation and pro-
tected nonnetwork programs for a total
of 30 days. In view of “same day” non-
duplication, we shall provide simply that
higher priority signals carried on the
system are entitled to exclusivity against
lower priority or more distant signals
but not against signals of equal priority.”

# Though these modifications stem from
our action in shortening the nonduplication
period, we note that changes of this nature
were requoested by AMST and ABC under the
:‘ngay before-and-after nonduplication pe-
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59. Color duplication: In the first re-

port and order in Docket Nos. 14895 and
16233 we decided that the public interest

would be served by some accommodation
which would permit a CATV system to
duplicate the programs of a local station
in color where the station transmits only
in black and white (par. 143). However,
we did not there determine whether such
an exception should apply across the
board or whether the CATV system
should be required to make a threshold
showing that a certain number or per-
centage of its subscribers possess color
receiving sets. Comment on this ques-
tion was Invited in this proceeding.

€0. Most of the comments, from broad-
cast and CATV Iinterests alike, favor
permitting color duplication on an across
the board basis. No one has supported
w1e proposed alternative of requiring a
threshold showing by the CATV system,
It is urged that it is in the public interest

for color programing to be available to

as many persons ar possible, and that
this should be encouraged by the Com-
mission pursuant to section 303(g) of
the Act. The few comments opposed to
meaking an exception for color claim that
it is unnecessary. They assert that most
stations not already equipped to present
network programs in color will acquire
such equipment now that all of the net-
works have commenced & significant de-
gree of color transmission. It is further
asserted that the exception would penal-
ize smaller stations lacking financial
resources to convert to color,

61. In light of the comments, we have
decided to permit color duplication of
local black and white transmissions
without requiring any threshold showing
by the CATV system. It may be that
most stations will shortly be equipped to
present network programs in color. But
in that event the broadcasters have no
real cause for complaint in the adoption
of a provision which will not adversely
affect thern. We think that the excep-
tion Is in the direction of éncouraging
the wider distribution of color program-
ing and that it is consistent with the sup-
plementary role of CATV. Any local
station finding itself at a significant dis-
advantage can install equipment for the
transmission of network color programs
“at relatively little expense” (comments
of American Broadcasting Co.), which
would benefit its non-CATV viewing pub-
lic. Hardship situations may be brought
to the Commission for such rellef as may
be warranted by the station's showing.
Accordingly, the rules governing micro-
wave-served CATV's will be amended in
this respect and the exception will be in-
corporated in the rules adopted for all
systems. The exception will also apply

where & local station is equipped for
simultaneous color transmission of net-
work programs, but delays & color pro-
gram for later presentation on the same
day by means of black and white video
tapes.

62. Some of the CATV comments urge
us to go further and permit duplication
of local colorcasts where a CATV sys-
tem makes & showing that the technical
quality of the local signal is substantially
inferior to another signal. While we
would, of course, consider any such show-
ing on a case-by-case basis, we have no
reason to anticipate any widespread
problem warranting action by rule. We
expect that valid complaints of this na-
ture will be rare. In most instances the
technical quality .of the local signal
should be sufficiently good to permit sat-
isfactory color reception on the cable
if the CATV system and the station co-
operate In good faith to accomplish this
result. We would expect good fajth ef-
forts by both to resolve any technical
problem before any complaint is made
to the Commission.

63. Other changes in the nonduplica-
tion provisions suggested by the parties.
The comments of NCTA (Exhibit B, pp.
35-38) assert that last minute program
changes by. the local station require the
CATV operator to bear the labor costs of
8 manually controlled switching device
or to punch & new tape for the remainder
of the week where an automatic switch
is used. While this assertion was made
in the context of the delayed nonduplica-
tion pravision, we think that the broad-
caster should afford the CATV sufficient
advance notice of nonduplication re-
quests to permiit the CATV system to
make its. program schedule available to
subscribers and to set an automatic
switching device only once for the entire
week. Accordingly, we shall amend
§8 21.712¢h), 74.1033(1), and 91.559(1) to
require that the station, upon request of
the CATYV operator, shall give notice un-

“der these sections at least 8 days prior to
the broadcast to be deleted. Since
‘‘same day’ nonduplication affects prin-
cipally network programs, which are
ordinarily presented at the same time
each week during the network season,
this amendment should pose no difficulty
for the station.® Indeed, in most in-
stances it would appear that such notice

#It has come to our attention that the
requesting station may have difficulty in
glving notice where the CATV does not al-
ways carry the same signals. Where & CATV
system varies the signals carried, it should"
provide the local stations with a copy of the
CATV schedule in sufficient time to permit
the station to give notice of the programs
to be deleted.



34

could be glven at the start of the net-
work season and continued in effect until
further notice occasioned by changes in
the schedule of the network or the local
station.

64. AMST urges that the rules be
modified to provide nonduplication pro-
tection to local stations which are not,
carried on the cable—either because no
request has been made or because of the
limited channel capacity of the system.
It states that carriage has no essen-
tial relationship to nonduplication and
should not be a condition of the latter.
We cannot agree. If nonduplication
were afforded where the local station is
not carried, the CATYV subscriber would,
in some instances, be greatly inconven-
fenced and, much more important, in
others be deprived of all opportunity to
view the programs involved. See para-
graph 51, first report. This is not the
purpose or effect of the rules as written,
nor would it serve the public interest.
As sat forth in paragraph 68 below, the
better procedure where the system's
channel capacity is too limited to permit
full carriage of the local station s to
substitute its programs for the dupli-
cating outside signal. Partial carriage
would retain the availability of the pro-
grams to CATV subscribers and at the
same time afford the station some meas-
ure of protection.

86. Other changes in the nonduplica-
tion provisions requested by AMST and
ABC have been rendered moot by our
action In shortening the nonduplication
period to 1 day and the modifications
we have made in that connection. Ac-
condingly, we shall not discuss their
contentions in this respect. The com-
ments with respect to nonduplication
of noncommercial educational stations
are discussed in a separate section on
educational television (section 4 below).

2. The Carriage Provisions

86. We shall, as stated, apply to all
CATV systems substantially the same
carriage requirements as were adopted
for microwave-served systems in the first
report.® Thus, within the limits of its
channel capacity, a CATV system will be
required to carry the signals of all com-

_mercial and educational television sta-
tions within whose Grade B contour the
system is located, giving priority: First,
to principal community signals; second,
{P. 1551
to Grade A signals; and third, to Grade
B signals. The CATV system need not
carry the signal of any statlon, if (1)
that station's network programing ls
® There are, however, changes stemming

from our resolution of tho translator ques-
tion (eec. 8 below).
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substantially duplicated by one or more
stations of higher priority and (2) carry-
ing it would, because of limited channel
capacity, prevent the system from carry-
ing the signal of an independent com-
mercial station or & noncommercial edu-
cational station. Moreover, in cases
where (1) there are two or more sighals
of equal' priority which substantially
duplicate each other and (2) carrying
all such signals would, because of
limited channel capacity, prevent the
system from carrying the signal of an
independent commercial station or a
noncommercial educational station, the
system need not carry all such substan-
tially duplicating signals, but may select
among them to the extent necessary to
preserve its ability to carry the signals
of independent commercial or noncom-
mercial educational stations. Where a
signal {s required to be carrled; it shall
be carried without material degradation
in quality, and shall be carried in full ex-
cept to the extent that nonduplication of
higher priority signals may be required
under the rules. Upon request of the
local station, the signal shall be carried
on the systemn on the channel on which
the station in transmitting (where prac-
ticable without material degradation)
and on no more than one channel.
Where a system is not carrying the signal
of a Grade B or higher priority station,
it shall offer and maintain for each sub-
scriber & switching device to allow the
subscriber to choose between cable and
noncable reception, unless the subscriber
indicates in writing that he does not de-
sire this device.

67. Modifications requested by the
parties. Some of the parties have re-
quested changes in these provisions.
Thus, NCTA urges that CATV sub-
scribers see no reason why out-of-
State stations should be regarded as
local, It asserts that CATV systems
should have the option to carry more
distant signals originating within the
same State in preference to out-of-State
stations placing a Grade B signal over
the community. We agree that there
may well be instances where the pro-
graming of -stations located within the
State would be of greater interest than
those of nearer, but out-of-State, ste-
tions, e.g., coverage of political elections
and other public affairs of statewide con-
cern. We recognize also that there may
be instances where out-of-State stations
located in another State are of greater
community interest than the geographi-
cally - nearer out-of-State statlons be-
cause of closer community ties with the
third State. Considerations of this na-
ture will be accorded substantial weight
as a basis for walver of the carriage
provisions.
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68. In this connection, we emphasize
that we intend to make every effort, con-
sistent with the public interest, to avoid
disrupting existing service to the public
in applying the carriage provisions of the
rules to systems now in operation®

ywhere, because of limited channel ca-
pacity, a CATV system cannot carry gll
Grade B signals without dropping a more
distant signal now being carried, we shall
entertain a request for walver of the
rules pursuant to the summary proce-
dures discussed in paragraph 97 below
and upon the basls of the showing spec-
ifled in paragraphs 104, 106. In ap-
propriate circumstances, walvers will be
granted, which will permit the system
to continue to carry the distant signal
and to substitute the nearer signal only
where simultaneous duplication would
occur. Thus, upon such wailvers, the
CATV viewers would continue to recefve
all programs to which they were accus-
tomed, via the more distant signal when
the programs are different and via the
local signal when the programs are the
same. New systems can commence op-
eration with a channel capacity sufficient
to carry both the local and the distant
signals; indeed, most new systems now
commence operation with 12 channel
capacity.

69. Sections 21.712(f) (2), 74.1033(d)
(2), and 91.659¢(d) (2) presently provide
that where a signal {s required to be
carried, it '‘shall, upon request of the
station licensee or permittee, be carried
on the system on the channel on which
‘the station is transmitting (where prac-
ticable without material degradation).”
WJIAC, Inc., and WKBH Television, Inc,,
urge that carriage on channel should be
& matter for the statlon's choice. Ac-
cording to WJAC, the station should be
entitled both to insist that its signal be
carried on another channel, and to select
the channel of a lower priority or non-
local station, AMST claims, on the other
hand, that carriage on channel is
extremely important and should be man-
datory unless the CATV makes a com=
pelling showing that this is8 not tech-
nically feasible without degradation. "It
states that the CATV should be reguired
to take all reasonable steps to eliminate
material degradation which may result
from the CATV equipment used or inade-
quate installations.

70. Since §§ 21.712(f) (1), 74.1033(d)

® As In the case of our present policy with
respect to microwave aystemns, carriage will
not be required where a sufficlent showing
is made that a predicted aignal 1s not {n fact
present in the community, or that a good
signal is not obtainable because of technical
deficiencles on the part of the station.
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(1), and 91.659(d) (1) already provide
that the “'signal shall be carried without
material degradation in quality (within
the limitations imposed by the technical
state of the art),” we do not think that
any change In subsection (2) s called
for, The requirement for on-channel
carriage 18 only operative upon request
of the station licensee or permittee, It
this results in material degradation, the
station can request carriage on another
channel. Moreover, if the channel ca-
pacity of the system is such that some
signal must suffer material degradation,
the inferior signal obviously should not
be that of a higher »rinrity station.
PFirst report and order in Docket Nos.
14895 and 15233, paragraph 136. How-
ever, no reason appears why it is neces~
sary for the station itself to select the
alternative channel. So long as the ré-
quirements of the rules are met, the
CATYV operator should be free to declde
how the channels on its cable are to be
utilized.

71. AMST further asserts that the
CATYV system should not have complete
discretion under §§21.712(d)(2), 74.-
1033(b) (2), and 91.559(b) (2) to select
among substantially duplicating signals
of equal grade where noncarriage of one
or more Is necessary to preserve its abil-
ity to carry the signals of independent
commercial or noncommercial, educa-
tional stations. It urges that the rule
should be modified to set forth reason-
able standards for selection, such as the
respective distances of the stations from
the community, relative signal strength,
respective audiences in the community—
as measured by audience surveys, ter-
rain_considerations and the like. We
recognized in the first report and order
in/Docket Nos, 14895 and 15233, para-
graph 981, that leaving the selection to
the CATV's discretion makes possible
“discrimination between local signals in
some instances.” We further stated that
we would closely examine complaints of
abuse, particularly where the CATV op-
erator has an ownership or other inter-
est In one of the duplicating channels.
We shall also give particular consider-
ation to any allegation that the station
not carried is one with closer community
tles. The criteria suggested by AMST
would not do away with the necessity
for case-by-case resolution of com-
plaints, AMST concedes (comments,
p.-20) that any criterfa for determining
priority should not be inflexible and that
an opportunity should still be provided
for the submission of other data to the
Commission. In the circumstances, it
seems preferable to retain the rule in its
present form until experience in its ad-
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. ministration demonstrates what refine-
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‘ments might be needed or appropriate.

72. AMST also claims that exclusion
of nearby network-affillated stations in
order to bring in distant independent sta-
tions which do not place a Grade B sig-
nal over the community of the CATV,
should not be permitted since ‘this
would drastically affect the normal off-
the-air competitive pattern of television
gervice” (AMST comments, pp. 20-21).
This provision is admittedly a “compro-
mise approach,” recognizing both that a
CATV system owes its primary duty to
the stations that are closest and place
the best signal over its community, and
also that carriage of nonnetwork signals
may contribute tc the diversity of its
service (first report and order in Docket
Nos. 14895 and 15233, par. 89). The gen-
eral questions of whether there should
be some limit on the distance and num-
ber of nonlocal signals brought in, as
well as the matter of "'leap-frogging,” are
being considered in Part II of this pro-
ceeding. Pending resolution of ‘these
matters, we ghell retain the rule ln its

present lorm

[P. 4552)

13. Next, AMST asserts that the in-
stallation of a switching device should
be mandatory in all cases, whether or not
the local signal is carried, s0 that the
subscriber will not be foreclosed from
off-the-alr service where the cable sys-
tem is inoperative or not operating prop-
erly. It is further urged that no excep-
tfon should be made when the subscriber
indicates in writing that he does not de-
sire a switch, since the requirement
could easily be avoided by a ‘“small-
print” ‘waiver in the subscription con-
tract. While these suggestions may have
some merit, we do not think they war-
rant a revision of the rules. The rules
arc designed to protect local stations in
areas which are cruclal and essential to
preserve and encourage service to the
public. For the reasons stated in par, 51
of the first report, particularly that go-
ing to 'sheer inconvenience of switching
¢ ¢ o we do not view this area as one
of greag. significance, requiring further
revision.

74. A further change suggested by
AMST does, however, appear to warrant
modification of the rules. Sections 21,712
(d) (3), 74.1033(b) (3), and 91.559(b) (3)
now provide that where a CATV system
operotes within the Grade B or higher
priority contour of both a satellite sta-
tion and its parent, carriage of one will
relieve the system of any obligation to
carry the other. AMST points out that
this would allow a CATV system in, or
very near to, the same community as the
satellite, to carry only the parent sta-
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tion, causing the satellite to lose audience

.for which it may be-originating some lo-

cal progreming and Yeducing its incen-
tive to originate programs. It urges that
satellites should be treated like any other
station in accordance with the prescribed
priorities. Since satellites operate on as-
signed channels and possess the potential
to develop iInto regular stutions, there is
a strong public interest in encouraging
them to do so. Accordingly, §§ 21.712
(d) (3) and (g) (3), 74.1033 () (3) and
(e) (3), and 91.559 (b)(3) and (e)(3),

together with the note to those sectlons.
will be deleted.

75. And, finally,"* AMST suggests that
CATV's be required to refrain from de-
leting or altering any portion (including .
advertising) of signals carried pursuant
to the rules. Such a requirement is im-
plicit in the carriage provisions and we
would so rule upon complaint. The ad-
dition of an explicit provision does not
appear necessary in the absence of some
evidence of abuse, In this connection,
we note that it is asserted in the com-
ments of NCTA that some broadcasiers
who have requested systems to refrain
from advance duplication of delayed
broadcasts, have later presented only a
portion of the program. Since the
CATYV system 1s relying exclusively upon
the signal of the local station to bring
the program to its subscribers, the sta-
tion has an obligation to present in full
any program for which nonduplication
is requested. Again, upon complaint we
would rule accordingly. See also para-
graph 158, first report. Moreover, “same
day” nonduplication will greatly reduce
the likelihood of any incidents of this
nature.

76. Accordingly, apart from the pro-
visions relating to satellites and the
changes occasioned by our disposition of
the translator questions (sec. 3 below),
the carriage requirements of the new
rules will be the same as the provisions
now governing microwave-served 8ys-
tems.

3. Translatots

“77. Part Iof the notice in this proceed-

4 AMST also asks that the definition of
substantially duplicating network am-
ing (8§ 21.710(f), 74.1001(e) (6), end 01.857
(£) ) be modifind to apply only to a situation
where two or more stations are primary af-
fillates of the same network. While such
a definition might have been equally accept-
able as an original matter, we do not think -
that any difference between the two is sig-
nificant enough to warrant redoing the rules
at this point, An additional proposal of
AMST that the substantlally duplicated con-
cept be retained only for purpoees of carriage
has in effect been granted in view of the
matters discussed in par. 88 above.
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ing (par. 36) requested comments on
two questions concerning translators:
(1) Whether CATV's should be required
to carry and not duplicate the signals of
station-owned translators operating be-
yond the parent station's Grade B con-
tour,Y and (2) whether translators
should theinselves be precluded from du-
plicating the programs of local stations.

78. With respect to the first question,
the parties have expressed diverse views.
The CATV interests and some of the
broadcasters argne against extending
any protection to translators outside the
Grade B contour because such transla-
tors are operating outside the normal
service area cf the parent station, do not
provide a local service or possess the po-
tential for developing into regular local
stations, and are relatively inexpensive
to construct and operate. It is further
asserted that translators should not be
protected because they may impede the
establishment of local stations.

79. AMST, Storer Broadcasting Co.,
NAEB, and the Farm Bureau urge, on the
other hand, that all translators (includ-
ing those not station owned) should be
carried in order to provide an incentive
for the establishment of translators.

Translators, they claim, should be en-.

couraged because their service is recelved
off-the-air free and covers a wider area
than cable service. They would exempt
translators from the carriage require-
ment where: (1) The CATV system is
carrying the translator's parent station,
(2) the CATV system is within the Grade
B contour of a station whose programing
is substantially duplicated by the trans-
lator, or (3) the translator is supplying

programing which substantially dupli-’

cates that of another translator whose
originating station is closer. Nondupli-
cation protection is not sought for the
asserted reason that translators do not
provide a local service or possess po-
tential for developing into regular local
-stations.

80. We share the view that the public
interest is served by encouraging ex-
panded use of translators to bring tele-
vision service to persons in rural areas
and communities not now receiving ade-
quate local television broadcast service.
Apart from the fact that translator sig-
nals are received free and reach persons
outside the urbanized areas served by
CATV's, one of the major recommenda-
tions of the Selden Report was that in-

4 Under the rules adopted in Docket Noas,
14808 and 156233, station-owned translators
located within the Grade B contour are
treated as extensions of the originating sta-
tion (§§ 21.710(b), 74.1001(e) (2), and 901,657
(b)). BSBuch translators will be treated the
same under the new rules.
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creased consideration be given to the
expanded use of translators. The report
states (p. 22):

Consideration should be given to the use
of translgtors as a tool of structural policy,
‘They require a substantially smaller Invest-
ment than CATV and are compact, highly
mobile, and can be sold in the secondary
market. In general they provide the flexi-
bility necessary in an industry in which
structural policy must be kept free to adapt
to technological and demographic change.
Translators are ideally suited as a temporary
communications medium, and their wuse
should be required of broadcast llcensees

- In fulfilling their obligations to the public

by bringing their signal o all homes in thelr
coverage area.

The report also recommends increased
use of translators to broaden the cover-
age of UHF stations (p. 90).

81. We have already taken a step in
this direction in the report and order in
Docket No. 15858, issued on July 9, 1965,
amending the rules to permit 100 watt
VHF translators on any channel listed
in the table of assignments unoccupied
by a regular television station or satellite.
The rules were also amended to permit
100 watt UHF translators on all unoc-
cupied UHF channels in the table of as-
signments in lieu of the previous limita-
tion to the upper 14 channels. In addi-
tion, we have recently proposed to permit
the use of microwave frequencies to re-
lay programs to translators (notice of
proposed rule making in Docket No.
16424, FCC 66-41) .

82. In line with this policy, we think
that CATV systems should, upon re-
quest, carry the signals of commercial
and educational translators operating in
the community of the system with 100
watt or higher power, where the system
has the channel capacity to do so. Since
noncarriage may effectively block the
translator from access to CATV sub-
scribers (par, 51 of the first report), the
inabillity to reach the central core of
the community may well destroy the in-
centive to establish translator service
for nonsubscribers in the community and
persons in the surrounding areas. More-

. over, we think that “same day" nondupli-

cation should also be afforded to transla-
tors carried on the system. Translators
operating with 100-watt or higher power
are properly distinguishable from other
translators since they have greater po-
tential for development into stations,
and it is particularly important that such
development not be impeded by CATV
operations. .
83. Accordingly, we shall add a fourth
‘priority to the three already listed in the
[P. 4553)
carriage provisions of the rules. Fourth,
all commercial and noncommercial edu-
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cational transiator stations operating in
the community of the system with 100
watt or higher power. As requested in
the comments, exceptions will be added
to exempt CATV’s from the translator
carriasge requirement where: (1) The
CATYV system is carrying the originating
station, or (2) the CATV system {s within,
the Grade B contour of a station carried
on the system whose programing is sub-
stantially duplicated by the translator.
The provisions of the program exclusivity
sections will also be appropriately
amended to require ‘‘same day"” nondu-
plication upon request of a translator
station carried on the system.

84. With respect to the second ques-
tion, whether translators should be re-
quired to refrain from duplicating local
statlons, our present policies and rules
are as follows: Pending the outcome of
this proceeding, we have been following
8 policy of conditioning UHF and. VHF
translator grants with the requirement
that the translator, upon request of any
station within whose Grade A contour
the translator operates, refrain from du-
plicating the station’s programs elther
simultaneously or within 15 days. Lee
Co. TV, Inc., FCC 65-483, 5 Pike and
Fischer, R.R. 2d 257; report and order in
Docket No. 15858, paragraph 12. Under
gsection 74.732(e) (1) of the rules, the
only station-owned VHF translators au-
thorized outside the Grade B contour
of the parent station are high power
(100 watt) VHF translators operating on
assignments in the table of assignments,
Moreover, § 74.732(e) (2) of the rules pro-
vides that a station-owned VHF transla-
tor which 1is intended to provide recep-
tion within the Grade A contour of an-
other station will not be authorized if
there is any duplication, unless the
translator is intended to improve recep-
tion within the principal city contour of
the parent station. However, we have
walved the provisions of § 74.732(e) (1)
and (2) where a nonduplication condi-
tion was imposed.

85. Our translator rules and policles
are currently in a state of flux. Part IT
of this proceeding (notice, pars. 61, 64)
proposes a reexamination of all of our
rules and policies relating to auxiliary
services to see if they are holding back
or encouraging a variety of off-the-air
services. A number of measures were
proposed in the comments in Docket No.
14848, which were deemed beyond the
scope of that proceeding but may be per-
tinent to this reexamination. It was
suggested that the multiple ownership
and duopoly rules be amended to allow
potential 100 watt, translator operators
to convert these to regular stations and
to encourage television station licensees
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to apply for them. Other suggestions
included proposals for increased power
for existing translators on other chan-
nels; removing the restriction in § 74.732
(e) (1) on the use of VHF translators by
television station licensees heyond their
Grade B contour; permitting translators
to be used as relay stations (only) where
the need exists; permitting multiple RF
amplifiers for UHF as well as VHF trans-
lators; and permitting UHF stations to
use VHF translators within their Grade
B contours. Moreover, AMST has re-
cently filed a petition for a comprehen-
sive, aflilrmative translator program
which is being considered as a counter
proposal in Docket No. 14229, and will
also be considered in our resolution of
basic translator policies in Part II of this
proceeding.

86. We are not in a ‘position to re-
solve these questions now. Moreover, we
still lack sufficient information to deter-
mine the extent to which the rebroad-
cast consent provisions of section 325(a)
may in practice limit duplication by
translators.* In addition, if translators
were required by rule to refrain from
duplication within the Grade B contours
of regular stations, a question would be
presented as to whether the provisions
of §74.132(e) (1) and (2) continue to
serve a useful purpose or should be
amended. It would be contrary to the
public interest to delay a resolution of
other portions of Part I of this proceed-
ing pending a thorough reexamination of
the translator rules and policies. Nor
does it appear advisable to undertake a
partial revision of the translator rules
at this point merely in order to attempt
to equalize the position of translators
and CATV's. In the circumstances, we
think it best to defer rulemaking action
until more basic translator pclicies have
been established.

© Although the notice requested informa-~
tion on the extent to which networks and
other program suppliers, through contracts
or otherwise, amrmatively restrict duplica-
tion by translators, no party_except Na-
tional Broadcasting Co. coinmented on this
subject. NBC states that since 1960 it has
followed a general policy of granting consent
for rebroadcast of its programs provided that
the translator is closer to ite originating sta-
tion than to any other NBC uffillate. Ina few -
recent instances, NBC haa given rebroadcast
consent where tha translator operated in an
area served by ap NBO aMliaic, but only for
NBO programs which. were rot wroadcast by
the local station. f3¢e also, nar. 63 of the
first report and order; Natlonal Broadcasting
Co., 30 Plke & Fscher, R.R. 1013; Millers
River Translators, Inc.,, FCC 63-504, 26 R.R.:
516, 518, amrmed In Springfield Television
Broadcasting OCorp. v. FOO, 328 F. 2d 186
.(C.AD.C.).
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86a. In the meantime, we will continue
to grant walvers of § 74.732(e) (1) and
(2) in appropriate instances, and will
condition station-owned VHF translator
grants with a requirement of ‘‘same day”’
nonduplication within the Grade A con-
tour, In view of our policy of encourag-
ing UHF, we will not impose any non-
duplication condition on UHF translator
grants for facilities to operate in an all-
VHF area. Nor do we believe it appro-
priate to follow any general policy of re-
quiring a nonduplication condition where
the translator applicant is not & broad-

cast licensee, e.g., 8 community spon-

sorved translator. It would appear un-
likely that such a condition is needed
in, or would serve, the public interest.
The rebroadcast provisions of section
328(a) may work with greater efficacy
in the case of translators not owned by
broadcast licensees. Further, the
amount of duplication in this type of
situation is not likely to be of a sub-
. stantial nature, since local residents are
clearly not apt to undertake the expense
and inconvenience of translator opera-
tions supported by local assessments or
donations unless a substantially different
program service is being made avallable,
In these circumstances, we do not think
it desirable as a general policy to place
any significant barrier, not urgently
_heeded, to the development of such com-
munity-type translators. We shall, of
course, consider whether additional re-
quirements are appropriate, either upon
request or on our own evaluation of a
particular situation, and will make all
translator grants subject to the outcome
of Part II of this proceeding. We will
alsq take into account, where warranted
in individual situations, the possible dis-
criminatory effect of our interim trans-
lator policy upon any existing CATV sys-
tem competing with the translator.

4. Educational Television Stations

87. The rules adopted in Docket Nos.
14,895 and 15,233 require the carriage
of noncommercial educational stations
(ETV), but do not require CATV's to
refrain from duplicating their programs.

We followed this course because those-

proceedings were primarily concerned
with commercial stations and many of
the considerations discussed in the first
report and order did not appear to be
applicable to ETV., The notice herein
recognized, however, that carriage alone
might not be sufficient to promote the
sound growth of local educational sta-
tions. Information was requested in this
proceeding as to the nature of any fur-
ther problems of ETV arising from CATV
operations and what Commission action
might be appropriate. .
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88. Other than educational interests,
most of those commenting on this sub-
Ject were against extending any nondup-
lication protection to ETV, for the as-
gserted reason that the widest possible
dissemination of educational material is
in the puktlic Interest. It is further as-
serted that CATV competition has no
economic impact on ETV because 't op-
erates on a nonprofil basls. Ngtional
Educational Television (NET), the Na-
tional Association of Educational Broad-
casters (NAEB), and Eastern Educa-
tional Network (EEN) take a sharply
different view in their more extensive
comments. They claim that local educa-
tional stations, though different from
commercial stations, have an even
greater need for nonduplication and
interim protection because CATV under-
mines the local financial support and
other local interest which is vital to ETV
operations. In this they are supported
by American Broadcasting.Co., AMST,
and labor unions representing employees
in the broadcast, CATV, and assoclated
talent industries. .

89. EEN and NAEB stress the impor-
tance of local financial support to edu-
cational stations. Although Federal
grants-in-aid under Public Law 87-477
are available for the construction of edu-
cational facilities, the operations of such
stations are almost entirely dependent

(P. 4554]

upon local financial support. Operating
income is derived primarily from (a)
schools and universities, (b) local and
SBtate governments, and (¢) contributions
and “subscriptions” from the general
public and donations by local industries
and businesses. Members of the public
and local businesses will have little or no
incentive to support the local station if
ETV is made available on the cable by
CATV's importation of outside educa-
tional stations, As EEN puts it (com-
ments, p. 12): “It is wholly unrealistic
to expect that the public will be willing.
to pay twice for educational service—
to subscribe to CATV and to ‘subscribe’
to local ETV.” Diversion of funds pro-
vided by local and area educational in-
stitutions and local and State govern-
ments for in-school television would be
even more serious, since these sources
generally provide over one-half of the
financlal support for local educational
stations.'* If a distant ETV signal is
available on the cable, and can be fitted

#“The Financing of Educational Televi.
sion Stations,” report of a study conducted
by Eaucational Television Stations, a divi-
sion of the Ndtional Assoclation of Educa
tional Broadcasters, p. 10 (1065). :
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into local schedules of instruction, locu!
schools and local and State governments
would be much more unlikely to provide
the financlal support and other interest
necessary to start a local educational
broadcast service, This would be par-
ticularly the case where the CATV offers
to wire the urban schools “free.” Unlike
the local educational station, the CATV
is in a position to make such an offer
because it does not pay for programs or
maintain expensive facilities for local
program origination and it can recoup
the cost of free school service through
subscription fees charged to the general
public,

90. Should CATV activity within ur-
banized areas siphon off sufficient local
financial support to preclude the estah-
lishment of a local ETV statlon, the loss
would be keenly felt by the public. The
existence and viability of local educa-
tional broadcast outlets has speclal sig-
nificance - for ETV because the educa-
tional process is geared to local condl-
tions and needs. Local ETV stations are
more than mere facilities for delivering
educational programs. They are an in-
tegral part of the educational and cul-
tural life of & community and area. This
is particularly true where ETV is used
for in-school instruction. ETV must
plan, prepare, and schedule educational
programing on the basis of individual
school and community needs, whether
the basic program material i{s produced
by the station itself or outside sources.
The station also provides study guides
for use by the teachers in the schools.
CATV cannot effectively provide this
carefully planned and prepared service
by indiscriminately importing signals
from distant educational stations located
in oitles with different needs and
futerests. .

91. Moreover, local educational sta-
tions serve not only the schools and pop-
ulations in the immediate community;
they provide service to the surrounding
rural area not reached by CATV. NAEB
points out (comments, p. 2):

Indeed, it is the rural area with limited
budgets, facilitles and pupil concentration
which has the most pressing need for the

. teaching resources of educational television,
“'The speclalized language, art, music or scl-
ence teacher who cannot be supported by
a rural school system can, nevertheless, be
enjoyed through the pooled resources of
educational television, .

In this connection we note also com-
ments flled by the American Farm Bu-
reau Federation, National Farmers
Union & National Grange stating that
rural residents,” who often are relatively
remote from the entertainment attrac-
tions of the city, probably more than
other groups of citizens in the country,
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rely especially on radio and television
as & major source of entertainment and
information.* :

92, Accordingly, the educational in-
terests urge that ETV stations be granted
nonduplication protection for a period

either the same as or much longer than -

that accorded to commercial stetions.®
Moreover, both NAEB and EEN urge the
adoption of procedures to protect com-
munities with educational reservations
which have not yet been activated.
NAEB requests that the CATV be re-
quired to notify local and area school au-
thorities and ETV interests of its pro-
posal to bring in a distant ETV signal.
In this way, NAEB states, local ETV
interests would be alerted and could
bring the matter to the Commission’s
attention for whatever action or con-
ditions appeared warranted in the cir-
cumstances. EEN urges the adoption of
interim procedures similar to those pro-
posed for CATV operations in major
markets in paragraphs 49 and 50 of the
notice.

93. The considerations put forth by
the ETV interests are not answered by
simply gtating that the public interest is
served by the widest dissemination of
educational material. If CATV opera-
tions should prejudice the establishment
of new ETV stations on the unused re-
served assignments or prevent existing
stations from realizing their full poten-
tial, the result would be a narrowing of
the distribution of educational mate-
rlal—a loss hitting hardest persons re-
stding in rural areas and those unable
to afford CATV fees.

is to supplement, rather than to sup-
plant, local educational broadcast serv-
ice. The national policy of encouraging
the full development and expansion of
ETV is reflected in the grants-in-atd
legislation (Public Law 87-477) and has
long been a matter of deep concern to
the Commission (sixth report and order,
pars. 33-49). It wou e plainly incon-
sistent with that policy to accord edu-
cational stations less protection than
commerclal stations if there is any real
likellhood of prejudice flowing from
CATV importation of outside ETV sig-
nals. Considering the contfnuous finane
clal struggle of ETV and its dependence
upon local financial support and interest,

“Apart from ETV, it 1s stated that rural
residents rely especlally on local broadcasts
giving agricultural information, weather con-
ditions (flood, frost, etc.), pest hazards and
ocurrent market conditions.

“The longer period I sought because of
the block distribution process for the NET
scheduled service and distribution patterns
of regional educational networks like EEN,

As iIn the case of
commercial stations, CATV's proper role:
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we think that the possibility of adverse
effect is sufficiently strong to warrant
some special protection for ETV,

94. In view of our decision to adopt
“same day' nonduplication for commer-
cial stations and since it is asserted that
effective nonduplication protection for
ETV would require a much longer period,
we do not think it appropriate to adopt
15-day before-and-after nonduplication
for ET'V, as requested by NAEB and ABC.
There: is no agreement among the edu-
cational interests as to what time period
would be appropriate, and even an ex-
tensive nonduplication period would not
solve the problem of achieving adequate
operationgl funds for existing ETV sta-
tions. We belleve that more effective
relief to ETV can be provided by the
approach discussed in the succeeding
paragraph, than by delayed nonduplica-
tion periods such as 16 days before-and-
after. Therefore, while recognizing that
some measure other than nonduplication
may be more suitable for ETV, we shall
amend the exclusivity provisions to in-
clude educational stations. The rules
will thus apply equally to all stations in
line with our conclusion (par. 54 above)
that they should be the same for all
systems. We will, of course, be alert to
guard against the possibility that CATV
may pose a more acute problem for ETV

. than presently appears, and would not
hesitate to amend the rules should this
subsequently prove necessary. ETV in-
terests have indicated their intention to
keep us apprised of any worsening devel-
opments and are encouraged to do so.

95, Perhaps the most troublesome
problem raised by the ETV comments is
the possibility that CATV, by bringing

,outside educational signals into com-
munities where educational assignments
have not yet been activated, will siphon
off enough local support to preclude the
establishment of an educational station,
The policy of reserving channels for edu-
cational stations is in recognition of the
fact that some tie may elapse before
such stations come into being. While
the grants-in-aid legislation has speeded
up the process in many areas,” the
reservations still serve a needed purpose
which should not be undercut. CATV
provides a valuable service to schools and
other subscribers by bringing in ETV
which is not yet locally avallable. But
this should not be at the expense of pre-
venting a local service from ever being

The number of educational TV appli-
cants in UHF (where most of the unused
educational reservations are) has increased

from five at the beginning of 1962 to 30 as of _

the end of 1065; during this period 34 more
UHF eduactional statlons went on the alr,
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established. Accordingly, we shall adopt
the suggestion of NAEB that local and.
area ETV interests and school author-

[P. #555]

ities receive advance notice of CATV
proposals to bring in outside ETV signals,
The attached rules (Appendix D) require
the CATV system to give notice of its
proposal to bring in a distant ETV signal,
at least 30 days prior to commencing
service, to the local superintendents of
schools and to the area and state edu-
cational television agencies (if any).
This will enable ETV interests in the area
to make objection to the CATV system
where a local station is contemplated.
Where a local ETV statlon is reasonably
imminent and objection is made to the
Commission, we would not ordinarily ap-
prove importation of the distant ETV
signal unless it has been established after
appropriate proceedings that this would
not prejudice the establishment or main-
tenance of a local ETV service.

96. And, finally, it is asserted by NET
and NAEB that, where an educational
signal is carried on a CATV on a channel
partially used for commercial slgnals,
the placement of commercial announce-~
ments adjacent to educational material
carried on CATV jeopardizes the public
image of ETV and prejudices its position
with program suppliers and copyright
owners who insist upon noncommercial
presentation. However, we do not think
that a sufficient basis has been shown for
the relief requested; l.e., prohibiting
comniercial announcements adjacent to
educaiional programing or requiring
CATV's to devote channels exclusively
to educational programing. We cannot
undertake to preserve ETV or commer-
cial stations harmless from all concelv-
able prejudice no matter how slight,
Moreover, we are reluctant to interfere
with CATV operations any more than
necessary in the public interest or to
impose requirements not shown to be
essential. CATV systems with limited
channel capacity and those carrying a
large number of commercial signals
might find it difficult to devote channels
exclusively to ETV. CATV's may also
wish to use educational signals to fill in
portions of commercial signals which
cannot be carried because of the non-
duplication requirements. Moreover,
since educational stations .normally do
not have as long a broadcast day as com-
mercial stations, the CATV system may
wish to provide its subscribers with other
material during the time that the edu-
cational station is not broadcasting. In
view of the station identification an-
nouncements made during the course of
the educational programing, it seems to

REVISION—CATV
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us that the prejudice to the originating
ETV station, it any, would be minimui.

D. PROCEDURAL MATTERS
1. Ad Hoc Procediures

97. It has been suggested in the com-
ments that the Commission should adopt
specific rules providing for summary,
nonhearing, procedures to handle re-
quests for waiver of the CATV rules or
for different treatment or affirmative re-
Jlef, We think the suggestion has merit.
The general provision for waiver of any
rule (§ 1.3 of the rules) does not afford
an adequate procedure for seeking ad-
ditional affirmative rellef or different
treatment. Moreover, such procedures
would be useful to handle requests for
rulings on complaints or disputes, We
recognize that to hold hearings upon
each such request relating to carriage,
nonduplication and ETV, would be time
consuming and burdensome to the CATV
systems and stations involved, particu-
larly those in smaller communities. In
addition, while such procedures will not
apply to the matter of distunt signals
in the top 100 markets, for which a
showing made in evidentiary hearing 1s
required (see par. 141 below), they could
be utilized in many instances to resolve
distant signal questions in the smaller
markets.

98. Accordingly, we have undertaken
In § 74.1109 of the attached rules to de-
vise flexible and fair procedures which
will generally permit expeditious proc-
essing of such requests. The procedures
require a written petition with notice to
interested persons and afford an oppor-
tunity for submission of comments or
opposition to any request and for reply.
Upon good cause shown, the Commission
may shorten the times specified in the
rules for the filing of opposition or reply
comments. The petition and all other
pleadings filed by the petitioner or
interested persons must contain a de-
tailed full showing, supported by affi-
davit, of any facts or considerations
relied upon. In the case of complaints or
disputes, the steps taken by the parties
to resolve thelr problem must aiso be set
forth. The Commission will, where pos-
sible, promptly dispose of the matter on
the basis of such written submissions.
However, additional procedures, such as
oral argument, evidentiary hearing, or
further written submissions directed to
particular aspects, may be specified by
the Commission if they appear necessary
or appropriate after consideration of the
pleadings,™ In the event that the peti-

®# Since petitions under the ad hoc proce-
dures may involve the resolution of contro-
versial isaues which in basie falrness should
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tion involves new service to CATV sub-
scribers, the Commission will expedi-
tiously ruie on the matter, either in whole
or~to the extent of determining whether
there should be a stay or other tempo-
rary relief pending such additional pro-
gee;mrc;s as may be required (see par. 100
ow).

2. Information To Be Filed With the
Commission by Ezxisting CATV Sys-
tems,; Notification by New CATV Op-
erations

99. Pursuant to our authority under
seotion 403 of the Communications Act,
all existing CATV operators will be re-
quired to submit to the Commission,
within 30 days after the effective date of
our order herein, the following informa-
tion with respect to each of their CATV
systems: (a) The names, addresses, and

_business interests of all officers, direc-
tors, and persons having substantial
legal or beneficlal ownership interests in
each system; * (b) the number of sub-
sorlbers to each system both currently
and as of February 15, 1966; (¢) the
television stations carried on each sys-
tem; and (d) the extent of any existing
or proposed program origination by each
CATYV system, Any CATYV system which
is located within the predicted Grade A
contour of a television station in the top
100 television markets (as ranked by
ARB on the basis of net weekly circula-
tion of the largest station in the market)
and which carries the sigmal of a distant
station(s) will also be required to submit
a map showing the location of its cable
lines being used to serve subscribers on
February 15, 1966.5° It is not practicable
to apply the notification provisions sct
farth below to the present operations of
existing systems, and there is no compre-
hensive or accurate listing of CATW sys-
tems avallable to apprise television sta-
tion licensees or permittees of all existing
CATYV operations within their Grade B
contours. Indeed, we have noted that
while the recent growth of CATV is of

be determined on the pleadings of the
parties, we shall amend the ex parte rules
to make them applicable to proceedings un-
der § 74.1100, as well as to proceedings. under
§74.1107. The principles discussed in par,
9 of the report and order in Docket No, 15381,
ROO 65-608, 1 FCO 24 40, will also apply.

®1In stating the ownership interests in a
corporation which has more than 50 voting
stockholders, only those stockholders need
be consldered who are officers or directors or
who directly or indirectly own 1 percent or
more of the outstanding voting stock. .

# Existing systems in the markets below
100 may subsequently be required to submit
& map showing the location of lines as of a
specific date in connectlon with any petition
for ad hoc consideration of a geographic exe-
tension into now areas.
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an impressive nature, there are confiict-
ing estimates as to the precise dimensions
of that very substantial growth. The in-
formation obtained will assist the Con-
gress in its consideration of the Commis-
slon’s legislative proposals in the CATV
fleld, and the Commission in its consid-
eration of matters in Part IT of the notice
and petitions described in paragraph 149
below. ’
100. New CATV systems will be re-
quired to notify the licensee or permit-
tee of any television broadcast station
within whose predicted Grade B con-
tour the system will onperate and the
licensee or permittee of any 100 watt
or higher power translator located in the
community of the system, with a copy to
the Commission, concerning the proposed
operation within 60 days after obtaining
a franchise or entering into a lease or
other arrangement to use fecilitles. In
no event may new service be commenced
until 30 days after notice has been given.
The notice shall include the name and
address of the system, identification of
the community to be served, the televi-
sion stations to be distributed, and the
estimated time for the commencement of
operations. Similar notification will be
required by existing systems which pro-
pose to add new distant signals (at least
30 days prior to commencing service) or
to extend lines into obviously new geo-
graphic areas (within 60 days after ob-
taining a franchise or entering into a
lease or other arrangement to use facil-
ities or at least 30 days prior to com-
mencing service where no new local au-
{P. #556]
thorization or contractual arrangement
is required). In addition, as already in-
dicated, notice to local and area educe-
tional authorities and ETV interests wiil
be required at least 30 days prior to com-
mencing service where carriage of a dis-
tant ETV signal is proposed. Such noti-
fication will afford the local television
stations and other interested persons an
opportunity to request carriage and non-
duplication under the rules or to peti-
tion the Commission .for different re-
quirements, before service is commenced
and thus avoid disruption to the public,
Where a petition for ad hoc considera~-
tion is flled with the Commission by any
station, CATYV system, or other interested
person within 30 days after notice, new
systems and existing systems proposing
to add new distant slgnals shall not com-
mence new service until after the Com-
mission’s ruling on the petition or on
the interlocutory question of temporary
relief pending further procedures™ In
the event that an evidentiary hearing is

$1 The matter of extension of lines into new
geographical areas by existing systems in top

.and-none is apparent to us.

‘posed on CATV systems directly.
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required, the question of whether there
should be a stay or other temporary rellef
pending the hearing will be expeditiously
resolved prior to the hearing on the basis
of the pleadings of the parties and such
additional written submissions as the
Commyission may request.

3. Form and Enforcement of the New
Rules

101. Aside from the obvious distine-
tion that nonmicrowave CATV’s do not
flle applications for licenses with the
Commission or use licensed facilities, no
special problems of substance or proce-
dure in making the carriage and non-
duplication requirements applicable to
them have been called to.our attention
While the
substantive requirements will therefore
be the same for all systems, some differ-
ences in form or procedure are necessary
in the case of the nonmicrowave CATV's,
First, the obligations will be imposed di-
rectly on the CATV system itself, rather
than taking the form of conditions on
microwave authorizations. Second, en-
forcement will be through the cease and
desist procedures set forth in section 312
(b) and (¢), or pursuant to section 602,
of the Act and will not include other
sanctions applicable to licensees. And,
third, some change 18 required in the
provisions requiring notification to all
licensees or permittees of television sta-
tions placing a Grade B or better signal
over the community of the CATV system
that a microwave application has been
filed or a request has been made of a
common carrier for microwave service,
(See sec. 2 above.)

4. Retention of the Microwave Rules

102. It is urged by American Telephone
& Telegraph Co. and by United States
Independent Telephone  Assoclation
(both in comments in Docket No. 16871
and in its petition for reconsideration of
Docket Nos. 14895 and 15233) that the
rules governing microwave grants should
be deleted when the obligations are i&-

e
think 1t best to retain the rules condi-
tioning microwave grants (as revised
herein) in their present form for a while
longer, until CATV's generally are op-
erating in accordance with the new rules.
Pending such compliance, we cannot
make the requisite public interest finding
for the issuance of the microwave li-
censee in the absence of a showing that
the facilities will be used In accordance

100 markets 18 discussed in par. 149 below.
As already indicated, the ad hoc procedures
do not apply to new service involving distant
signals in the top 100 markets or obviate the
need for evidentiary hearing as set forth In
pars. 141~143 below.
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with the conditions. Moreover, the re-
quests of AT&T and USITA are primarily
grounded in the alleged burden to the
common carriers, which will be substan-
tially alleviated in this interim period by
the revisions made in the memorandum
opinion and order on reconsideration in
Docket Nos. 14895 and 156233, 1 FCC 2d
524. However, once widespread CATV
compliance with the new rules has been
achieved, some modification of the mi-
crowave rules would clearly appear to be
appropriate and we shall take action
toward this end as soon as it is possible
to do so.

5. Transition Period

103. In the first report and order (par.
161) and in the notice (par. 34), we
stated that we would consider in this
proceeding the question of whether there
should be some kind of transition period
before the carriage provisions are made
fully applicable to microwave and non-
microwave systems with limited channel
capacity. To obtain relevant informa-
tion, the Commission mailed a question-
naire to every known CATV operator.
The questions were designed to elicit
specific information with respect to the
effective channel capacity of each sys-
tem, the local television signals which
might fall within the carriage provisions
of the rules, and the number of channels
in use for nonlocal television signals or
dther purposes. Responses were re-
ceived from 1031 CATV's, of which 250
were microwave-served and 781 were
nonmicrowave.

104. Upon analysis of the responses, 1t
appeared that less than 20 percent of the
microwave systems were not in compli-
ance with the carriage provisions, and
half of these either had the unused chan-
nel capacity to come into compliance, or,
in view of plans to expand the system,
would shortly be able to comply. Less
than 10 percent of the microwave sys-
temns could not comply with the rules
without having to drop one or more sig-
nals currently carried. Accordingly, the
Commission, on December 8, 1965, de-
termined that there was no need to afford
microwave-served systems a general de-
lay in the application of the rules relating
to carriage, and notified all common car-
rier and Business Radio Service licensees
serving CATV's that the rules would be
effective on and after February 1, 1266, to
renewal applications. We further "ad-
vised such licensees that the renewal ap-
plication should contain a request for
walver of the rules relating to carriage, if
a8 waiver were desired, together with the
following showing:

\
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The request for waiver should include the
potition by the CATV system that the micro-
wave licensee seek the waiver from the Com-
mission; end the system should include a
statement that it has served a copy of that
petition on any television station to be af-
feated. The request for waiver should dems-
onstrate the hardship to the CATV system,
the disruption of service to the customers of
the CATV system which would reswt from
immediate compliance with the carriage re-
quirements, the need for the particular
length of time for which the walver is re-
quested, and the future plans to come into
compliance. Finally, the request should
state whether substitution of the local sta-
tion's signal on a simultaneous-only basis
will be afforded during the period for which
any walver lse granted where the local station
is not now carried and its programing is
duplicated by a more distant signal. See
Black Hills Video Coip., 6 Plke & Flsc.her.
R.R. 2d 199, at 201 (par. 9).

105. With respect to the 781 nonmicro-
wave systems who responded to the ques-
tionnaire, it appears that 605 are already
in compliance with the carriage require-
ments of the rules. An additional 87
systems have sufficlent unused channel
capacity, or are expanding their capacity,
and would be able to comply without
having to drop any presently carried
television signal. Two systems might
have to utilize a channel presently carry-
ing FM radio and CATV originated pro-
graming, and 10 systems furnished in-
sufficient information for any conclusion .
as to their situation. There remain 77
systems which would have to drop one or
more television signals presently carried
in order to add one or more television
siglnals required to be carried by the
rules.

106. Thus, as in the case of microwave
systems, it appears that only a compara-
tively small percentage of the nonmicro-
wave systems could not comply with the
carriage provisions without substituting
a local for a more distant signal. In the
circumstances, we believe that there is
no need to provide for a general transi-
tion period by rule. The problems of
individual systems will be considered on
a case-by-case basis, upon a request for
waiver making the same showing appli-
cable to microwave wsystems. Accord-
ingly, the rules will apply immediately to
all new CATV systems commencing .op-
erations on or after their effective date,
and will apply 60 days thereafter to ex-
isting systems unless a request for waiver
has been filed with the Commission. Our
aim is to allow an orderly transition pe-
riod for the relatively small number of
systems with limited channel capacity
whose viability might be jeopardized by
immediate application of the rules, or
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where existing service to CATV sub-
scyibers would be unduly disrupted (as
against the Black Hills type of protection
(6 R.R. 2d 199, at 201 (par. 9)) during
the appropriate transition period).-
107. The foregoing discussion of the
apparent situation with respect to car-
riege does not take account of 100-watt
translators operating in the community
of the CATV. Our decision (pars. 82,
82 above) to accord high power trans-
lators fourth priority may ralse some ad-
{P. 4557}
ditional channel capacity problems.
While this new provision will have the
same effective date, waivers may be
sought by microwave and nonmicrowave
systems either within the 60-day period
or upon receipt of any request for trans-
lator carriage which glves rise to some

problem.
6. Copyright Suits

108. Finally, we shall make brief men-
tion of the copyright matter because,
despite our plain statements in para-
graph 159 of the first report, there would
still appear to be some confusion on the
part of some persons as to the effect of
our carriage and nonduplication rules
upon the pending copyright disputes.
We have stated that our decision 1s not
intended to affect in any way the pend-
ing copyright suits, involving as they do
matters entirely beyond our jurisdiction.
We have simply taken into account the
existing practices of CATV systems and .
the present inability of program sup-
plers to control the availability of their
programs via CATV. Thus, the fact that
we have given the local station the right.
to have its signal carried over the CATV
system (and not duplicated for a reason-
able period), affords no defense to that
system in a copyright suit. The station
cannot bestow broadcast or transmission
rights to programing which it does not
own( or as to which it has not obtained
a license to do so). See report on re-
broadcasting rules, 1 (part 3) Rike and
Fischer, R.R. 91:1133, 1134, 1137, where
we stated in connection with rebroadcast
rights under section 325(a), that the sec-
tion “may no longer accurately reflect
present conditions” since most programs

were not owned by the originating sta- .

tion who could not therefore legally
grant the rebroadcast permission sought.
In short, if the copyright suits are de-
cided adversely to the CATV industry,
we may, as stated in the first report, have
to revise our rules® We have ~acted
now in light of the present copyright

. 8= And, of course, stations will have to take
into-account the effect of any copyrignt de-
clston In making requests for carriage under
the present rules, '

69-173 O-67—4
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situation, which would appear likely
obtain for some substantial period
time, and without the slightest intent ¢
affecting the determinations to be mac
in the pending suits.

CONCLUSION AS TO PART I

109. The foregoing are the rules whic.
we believe to be appropriate for all CAT'
systems at this time. We believe tha
they represent a fair balancing of th
competing interests, and properly accom
modate both industries and thus, th
public interest “in the larger and mor
effective use of radio” (sec.303(g)). W
recognize further revision may be calle
for as we gain experience in their imple.
mentation. This docket (15971) remain
open with this report designated as the
second report, and we shall revise th
rules, as the public interest requires, ir
our consideration of Part II or upon the
basis of new information or experience
(and, if appropriate, after giving notic
of such proposed revisions). Finally, as
in the case of all rules, we shall give fur-
ther guidance through the medium of
rulings directed to specific situations.

110. In light of the foregoing, we find
that the public interest would be served
by modification of the rules previously
promulgated for microwave-served CATV
systems and the adoption of rules govern-
ing all CATYV systems, as set forth in the
attached Appendix D. Authority for the
rules adopted herein is contained in sec-
tions 1, 2(a), 3(a), 4 (1) and (j), 303,
307(b), 308, 309, 310, 319, and 403 of the
Communications Act of 1934, as amended.

ParRT II. MAJOR MARKET, DISTANT STaA-
TIONS POLICY—PAR. 49-50 OF THE
NotIcE

A. THE NOTICE; COMMENTS

111. In the notice, we stated (par. 49,
IF‘C(_J:.'datp. 471) :

¢ ¢ ¢ pending the outcome of this proceed-
ing, applications for microwave facilitles to
be used to relay the signal of any television
atation to a CATV system in a community
with four or more commercial channcl as-
signments and three or more stations in
operation (or with at least two stations in
operation and one or more stations author-
ized or applied for) must be accompanied by
a clear and full shewing that in the partic-
ular circumstances a grant would not pose
a substential threat to the area. A like
showing must be made in applications for
microwave facilities to serve a CATV system
In a community where, because of its prox-
imity to another community (or communi-
ties) having three or more existing com-
mercial stations (e.g.. within the Grade B
contour of such three or more commercial
stations), any new UHF television station
would be independent in operation,

In paragraph 50, we specifically in-
'vited comment:
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* ¢ ¢ on whether the foregoing course of
action as to applications before the Commis-
sion should be extended to the nonmlcro-
wave CATV aystem In the same type of
situation (e.g. through a rule which would
prohibit the extension of the signal of any
television station beyond ita Grade B contour
Into a community with the situation de-
scribed above (par. 49), without there having
been a clear and compelling showing that
in the particular circumstances there is 1o
threat to the development or maintena~ce of
independent UHF service in the community.

112. We have considered the:com-
ments received on this jmportant aspect.
A summary of some of the comments is
set out in Appendix B:

B. EVALUATION

113. The discussion in Appendix B
gives some of the highlights of the com-
ments submitted on this aspect. The
more detailed showings have, however,
been considered, and will be referred to
in the ensuing discussion. While these
showings are pertinent, particularly with
respect to the trends which are so impor-
tant to our evaluation, they do not sup-
ply definitive answers to the problems
before us; rather, they serve to point up
the problems and, in the circumstances,
to the procedures called for. We shall
develop the underlying considerations at
some length, and even with some repeti-
tion of the discussion {n Part I, because
of the great importance of the matter.
There are two central grounds for our
action—(1) an economic impact ground,
based on the trends in the CATV and
UHF fields, and (2) a fair competition
ground, based on the patently anomalous
conditions under which the broadcasting
and the CATV industries compete.

1, The Economic Impact Ground

114. The UHF trend: As stated in our
notice, we are at a watershed in the de-
velopment of UHF broadcasting. UHF
broadcasting generally suffered a very
serious setback in the 1950's and limped
along until the passage of the all-chan-
nel receiver legislation. In enacting this
“unique” legislation in 1962, Congress
made the judgment that development of
UHF “is not only the best but the only
practicable way of achieving an adequate
commercial and educational system in
the United States” (H. Rept. No. 1559,
87th Cong., 2d sess., p. 4; S. Rept. No.
1526, 87th Cong., 2d sess.,, p. 7). Such
a system would ‘“'permit all communities
of appreciable size to have at least one
television station as an outlet for local
self-expression,” provide "at least three
competitive facilities in all medium-sized
communities,” and make provision “for
at least four commercial stations in all
large centers of population” (H. Rept. at
p.3). Sucha fourth station might make
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possible a fourth national network or the
formation of “"FM-type networks" in tel-
evision, and also would be *valuable par-
ticularly for local programing and self-
expression"—an important need in many
markets “because all of the available sta-
tions are network affiliates” (H. Rept. at
p. 3; S. Rept. at p. 4). Thus, as shown
by the above and the compulsory sale of
all-channel sets at the rate of over
9,000,000 a year, Congress and the Amer-
ican public have staked a great deal on
the development of UHF.

115. As we pointed out in the notice
and our prlor discussion, there is every
present indication that the all-channel
set requirement is having its desired ef-
fect, with greatly increased interest in
UHF, particularly in the many applica-~
tions flled for the larger cities. Thus,
from the beginning of 1962 to the end of
1965, the number of UHF commercial
stations on the air increased from 85 to
100, and, most significant as an indica-
tion of the trend, the number of applica-
tions pending (with multiple applica-
tions for the same channel counted once)
increased from 19 to 80, There are now
indications of the beginning of a fourth
network or of an “FM-type" network,
involving UHF and VHF stations in some
major markets. With this increased fer-
ment in UHF, we believe that the next
few years will supply the critical answer
to whether the congressional goal of a
truly nationw.de television system em-
ploying both UHF and VHF on an effec-
tive intermixed basis will be achieved.
(See H.Rept.at n.7; S. Rept.at p.6.) -

116. The CATV trend: The CATV trend
is even more pronounced, and has already
been noted in our first report, paragraph
65, 38 FOC at p. 709, and in the prior dis- -
cussion (pars. 31-33). As stated, the

[P. 4558)

CATV growth has been explosive and
gives every indication of continuing its
phenomenal spurt. In 1859, there were
about 550 CATV systems, in 1965 at the
time of the first report, there were about
1,300 CATV systems, and today—less
than a year later—it is estimated that
there are 1,565 (Television Digest, Dec.
27, 1965, at p. 3). Further, there are
1,026 CATV franchises which have been
recently granted but are not yet operat-
ing (dbid.). The number of applications
for franchises is even larger—an esti- -
mated 1.958* Clearly, there is consider-

3' Ag noted, the estimates as to franchises
granted and applications vary. See para-
graphs 381, 116, supra. NCTA reported re-
cently that 1,600 applications for CATV per-
mits had been filed in the last 12 months and
that 1,200 were pending (N.¥Y. Times, Dec.
19, 1065). By any estimate (e.g., TV Digest,
lMJS’!‘. NCTA), the figures are impressively
arge.













































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































